
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Development 
Control Board

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman)
Councillor I D Armitt (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown

Councillor J Burrell
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor S R Jarnell

Councillor J Jones
Councillor P Kelly

Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean

Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters

Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Thursday 18 April 2019 at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



INTRODUCTION
The function of the Development Control Board is to consider planning applications and also to take 
enforcement action against breaches of planning control and related matters.  

AGENDA LAYOUT
Reports on a planning application describes the application site, the proposed development, any 
relevant planning history, responses from those who have been consulted on the application along with 
any other comments received, and, lastly, a report on the main planning issues relevant to the 
application.  The reports also contain a recommendation to the Board Members, generally either for 
refusal or approval. The recommendation appears at the beginning and at the end of each report. There 
is a narrative by the Planning Officer of his/her consideration and the reason for refusal, or the 
conditions to be attached to an approval, are set out at the end of the report. 

UPDATE
The main agenda is printed some time before the Board meeting. The Update is a document which is 
prepared the day before the meeting and circulated to Members. It provides information about 
applications to be considered at the meeting which has emerged since the agenda was printed. This 
could include further comments from interested parties, recent changes to the application and 
amendments to the recommendation. Copies of the Update are made available to the public.

THE MEETING
The Chairman and Vice-Chairman sit on the dais at the front of the Council Chamber.  Planning Officers 
sit on their right and a legal representative and the Committee Co-ordinator usually sit on their left.  

The Chairman may take agenda items in an order which reflects the degree of public interest.   

The Chairman will propose each item and invite Members to indicate if they would like to discuss. If an 
item is not proposed for discussion, the Chairman will ask Members to vote in accordance with the 
Officer recommendation. However, those items where a member of the public has registered to speak 
against the Officer recommendation will be discussed by the Board.  There will be no need for public 
speakers to address the Board if the speaker was going to support the Officer recommendation. 

For items for discussion, the Planning Officer will usually make a presentation, describing the proposal, 
outlining the main planning considerations and concluding with the recommendation.  Where a request 
to speak has been made by 12 noon on the designated date, and granted, the Chairman will invite 
speakers to sit in a designated area equipped with microphones. Where the Officer’s recommendation is 
to allow the application, the objectors will have the opportunity to speak first, followed by any supporter.  
The reverse order will apply in cases where the Officer’s recommendation is that the application be 
refused. Each speaker will be allowed three minutes to make their points.  

Members or Officers may clarify any points with the speaker(s) before Members consider the 
application. Thereafter, no public speaking will be allowed and the speaker(s) will be asked to return to 
the public gallery.

The Chairman has the discretion to curtail or extend speaking in individual cases if it is considered 
appropriate.

SITE MEETINGS
If it becomes apparent during the Board’s deliberations on an application that the Board cannot fully 
appreciate the impact of a proposal without seeing the site first, Members may decide to defer the 
application so that a site meeting can be held.  If agreed, the item will not be discussed further at this 
meeting. 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

 AGENDA

Thursday 18 April 2019

Update

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 
February 2019 

(Pages 5 - 12)

4. References from other committees 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there 
are any urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

6. 18/00927/FUL 
 1B Faesten Way Bexley, Kent.  DA5 2JB 

(Pages 13 - 24)

Proposal
The demolition of an existing double garage and construction of 
a two storey three bedroomed detached house.

Recommendation
Approval

7. 18/00949/COU 
 Willow Court, 31B, Devon Road, Sutton at Hone, Kent.  DA4 
9AA 

(Pages 25 - 34)

Proposal
The conversion of an existing unauthorised building to a two 
bedroomed dwelling with the addition of a rear dormer. 

Recommendation
Approval.

https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PC487DBQKUN00
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PCFHRWBQLKN00


8. Tree Preservation Order No. 3 2018 - 10 Individual Trees 
and 5 Groups of Trees - Fred Mead,  and Hook Place Farm, 
Hook Green Road,  Southfleet, Kent. DA13 9PQ 

(Pages 35 - 50)

Recommendation 
That Tree Preservation Order 3, 2018, Fred Mead, Southfleet, 
Kent, DA13 9PQ, be confirmed without modification 

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION IN PUBLIC

9. Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers (Pages 51 - 98)



UPDATE
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

18th April 2019

Item 6 The Willows 1B Faesten Way Bexley, Kent DA5 2JB 18/00927/FUL

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

Two neighbouring properties to the north on Tile Kiln Lane have submitted additional 
comments. Some of their comments reiterate their concerns raised during the initial 
neighbour consultation period and reported in the main agenda report. 

The additional issues raised relate to:

- The fact that the area is no longer an Area of Special Residential Character 
- The rural and special character that the neighbour considers the area has
- The report’s statement that ‘the principle of infill developments has been established’
- The size of No.1B Faesten Way’s garden 
- Protected trees that have disappeared
- Sewerage and drain capacity concerns (not a material planning consideration)

COMMENTS

In relation to the area’s designation as an Area of Special Residential Character (ASRC) this 
was not carried forward as part of the Development Policies Plan which came into force in 
July 2017 and I note that no consultation responses were received on ASRCs during the 
Issues and Options Consultation on the Local Plan in Dec 2014 to Jan 2015. The application 
site therefore no longer falls within an Area of Special Residential Character. The status of 
the area as an ASRC is not relevant to this application and I can only consider the 
established character of the area at the time the application was made. It is not disputed that 
the area continues to have its own character and I have assessed the established character 
of the area and the relationship of the new dwelling in the agenda report.

Having reviewed aerial mapping once more it does appear that the dwelling on the 
application site, (number 1B) has been in situ since at least the 1940s. The reference to the 
site itself being an infill was reported in error. However, it is still considered that the dwelling 
and its neighbour 1A Faesten Way have an atypical relationship with the highway in that 
their side elevations face the main road. Also, the principle of infill developments has been 
established, not just in the 1980s as mentioned in the neighbour’s comments, but there have 
been infill developments which have taken place nearby in the early 2000s. 

A neighbour has also referenced the report’s statement that that garden of No.1B Faesten 
Way is notably larger than others in the surrounding area. Aerial mapping illustrates that this 
is the case. I would clarify that the reference to the size of the garden is not just the fact that 
it is quite large but also to its siting to the side of the dwelling. It is not thought that similar 
developments as this could be easily replicated as a large side garden is not a common 
feature nearby. Some properties in the area have large gardens however these are mostly 
found to the rear and not positioned to the side as is the case with this site. 



I consider that the report has assessed the impact on the protected trees and fully 
considered the tree situation on site.

Some neighbours have raised concerns in relation to sewerage issues. These neighbours 
have been informed via email that Thames Water have responsibility for ensuring that 
adequate drainage is provided to new developments and if planning permission is granted 
the developer will need to contact Thames Water to ensure this. I note that Thames Water 
have been consulted and raise no objection. This is not a material planning consideration 
therefore.

RECOMMENDATION

Planning permission be granted for the reasons set out in the report subject to the conditions 
set out in the agenda report. 

Item 7 Willow Court, 31B Devon Road, Sutton at Hone, Kent 18/00949/COU

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

Two additional letters of objection were received by new contributors since the Board report 
was published. The comments were made by nearby residents and raised the following 
concerns:

- The dwelling would affect natural drainage in this flood plain 
- Impedes on the Green Belt
- Opening the floodgate for others wishing to build to the rear of their properties
- The building has never been used as a store
- Desire to protect open spaces from unwanted development
- Garden grabbing 

Additional comments were received from Cllr Coleman who wished to reiterate his objection 
to the application as reported in the main report.

A nearby resident who already submitted a letter of objection during the initial consultation 
period in August 2018 has sent some photographs in support of his comments. 

COMMENT

A number of the above raised concerns were covered in the main report. In reference to the 
concerns about drainage in the flood plain, the Environment Agency were consulted on the 
application and they do not object to the application. 

I would also reiterate that the proposal should not “open the floodgates” to further similar 
development due to the unique circumstances of the site. Each case must be assessed on its 
own merits, and what has already been permitted on site must be considered including an 
appeal decision in 2014 which confirmed that the planning permission granted under reference 
91/00659/FUL for a Class B1 workshop had been implemented within the required time limit 
and is still extant i.e. it could be completed at any time. 



RECOMMENDATION

Planning permission be granted for the reasons set out in the report subject to the conditions 
set out in the agenda report. 

Item 8 Tree Preservation Order No. 3 2018 – Fred Mead and 18/01584/FUL

Hook Place Farm, Hook Green Road, Southfleet, 

DA13 9PQ

CONSULTEE RESPONSES

Southfleet Parish Council have written to clarify that they were only concerned about the 
protection of the trees within the Fred Mead development and did not comment on the trees 
within the grounds of Hook Place Farmhouse or any other trees on surrounding land.

COMMENT

Officer’s wish to clarify that Southfleet Parish Council did not ask the Borough Council to 
consider the trees outside of the Fred Mead development.  The Council’s consideration of 
the protection of trees beyond the Fred Mead development was not influenced by the Parish 
Council’s request.  However, it was considered good practice at the time of assessment to 
also consider the trees outside of the Fred Mead development.  The trees outside of the 
Fred Mead development are considered to be worthy of protection under a TPO for the 
reasons set out in the report.

RECOMMENDATION

Confirm the TPO without modification for the reasons set out in the report.





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Development Control Board held on Thursday 14 
February 2019 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman)
Councillor I D Armitt JP (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor B Garden
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor P Kelly
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

88. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Bardoe, 
Burrell, Hayes and Mote.

The Board noted the appointment of Councillors Garden and D L Reynolds, 
as substitute Members. 

89. FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE AND THE ARRANGEMENTS AND 
CONSTRAINTS RELATING TO THE FILMING OR RECORDING OF THE 
MEETING. 

The Clerk to the Board explained the fire evacuation procedure and the 
arrangements and constraints relating to the filming or recording of the 
meeting.

90. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

91. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 17 
JANUARY 2019 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Development Control Board held on 17 January 2019 
be confirmed as a correct record of that meeting.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 14 FEBRUARY 2019

2

92. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES 

It was reported that there were no matters referred to the Board for 
consideration.

93. URGENT ITEMS 

It was noted that there were no urgent items for the Board to consider.

94. 18/01176/FUL 
 NORTH KENT COLLEGE, OAKFIELD LANE, DARTFORD, KENT. 

The Board considered a report on an application for the demolition of existing 
buildings, the conversion of Blocks K (Mansion House), R (The Lodge) and W 
(Rose Cottage) for residential use, the construction of new buildings to 
provide a total of 156 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), and the provision 
of associated infrastructure including access roads, car parking and open 
space and landscaping at this site.

The Chairman introduced Mr Hall who spoke against the application and Mr 
Wheeler who supported it. 

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated.

Members expressed concern at the proposed inappropriate use of green belt 
land for development, the validity of some special circumstances identified as 
mitigating aspects of the development, and the overdevelopment of the site.  
It was additionally noted that the development did not satisfy the provisions of 
our Windfall sites policy.   

RESOLVED

That the Application be refused for the following reasons: 

1. The development is considered to be inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt which results in harm to the openness and the purposes of 
the Green Belt which has not been outweighed by very special 
circumstances.  The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to 
adopted Policy DP22 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017, 
Policy CS13 of the adopted Core Strategy 2011 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

2. The development will result in detriment to the visual amenity and 
character of the Green Belt by virtue of the introduction of buildings on 
land which is currently open, the introduction of lighting to the area and 
the loss of mature protected trees on the site.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policies DP22 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford 
Development Policies Plan 2017.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 14 FEBRUARY 2019

3

3. The proposal will result in the significant loss of the quantity of open 
space on the site, which has previously been used as a playing field 
and is identified as Borough Open Space on the Proposals Map. It is 
not considered that it has been adequately demonstrated that the 
existing provision is surplus to current or future requirements or that 
there is replacement provision within walking distance.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policy DP24 of the Dartford Development Policies 
Plan 2017.

4. The proposal fails to provide adequate affordable housing required to 
meet local needs and is therefore contrary to Policy CS19:1 of the 
adopted Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DP9 of the adopted Dartford 
Development Policies Plan 2017.

5. The proposal is unplanned windfall development and the Council 
considers that it fails to comply with Policy DP6 of the adopted Dartford 
Development Policies Plan 2017 and policy CS10: 4 &5 of the adopted 
Core Strategy 2011 by virtue of the facts that: the proposal is not 
required to rectify an absence of five year housing land supply; the 
proposal is not considered to be sustainable as it is unlikely to minimise 
car use due to the limited availability of public transport and the 
distance from other community facilities which is contrary to the 
objectives of the adopted Local Plan and could lead to further pressure 
on the local road network ; the proposal does not comply with adopted 
Policy CS18 in terms of housing mix or other adopted Local Plan 
Policies as set out in the preceding reasons for refusal; and that 
therefore on balance the benefits of the proposal do not outweigh the 
dis - benefits. 

95. 18/01351/FUL 
 NORTH KENT COLLEGE, OAKFIELD LANE, DARTFORD, KENT. 

The Board considered a report on an application for the demolition of existing 
buildings and the erection of a college building comprising 2,836 square 
metres of educational floor space and the provision of associated 
infrastructure including drainage works, open space, fencing and landscaping.

The Chairman introduced Mr Gleed who spoke in support of the application.

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 14 FEBRUARY 2019

4

RESOLVED

That the Application be approved subject to:

1. the Conditions, Reasons and Informatives set out in the report,

2. the amended Conditions 3 and 5 as set out in the Update report; and, 

3. the completion, within three months of this approval, of a relevant S106 
agreement in accordance with the Heads of Terms set out in paragraph 
68 of the Report   

 

96. 18/01584/FUL
 UCC COFFEE, RIVERSIDE WAY, DARTFORD.  DA1 5BS 

The Board received an application for the erection of a detached demountable 
warehouse building for a temporary period until 31st December 2019 to 
replace a fire-damaged building.

The Chairman introduced Mr Mani who spoke against the application.

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated.

RESOLVED

That the application be approved subject to the Conditions, Reasons and 
Informatives set out in the Report and also subject to the following additional 
Conditions, Reasons and Informative:

05 Within 3 months of the date of this permission, surface water drainage 
shall have been implemented on the site, in accordance with details to have 
been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. Such 
drainage should be designed to prevent run-off into the adjacent roads or 
other sites and to ensure there is no pollution of controlled waters. Should the 
approved drainage details not have been implemented within 3 months of the 
permission, the planning permission hereby granted shall expire and the 
building shall be removed from the site and the land reinstated to the 
satisfaction of the local authority.

Reason: In order to prevent surface water run-off outside of the site and to 
prevent the pollution of controlled waters in accordance with Policy DP5 of the 
adopted Local Plan.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 14 FEBRUARY 2019

5

06 Within 6 weeks of the date of this permission, barriers shall have been 
erected between the building hereby approved and the eastern and southern 
boundaries of the site in accordance with details to have been submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority. Such barriers shall be designed 
in such a way to prevent use of the enclosed area by forklift trucks and shall 
be maintained for the duration of this planning permission. Should the 
approved barrier details not have been implemented within 6 weeks of this 
permission unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, 
the planning permission hereby granted shall expire and the building shall be 
removed from the site and the land reinstated to the satisfaction of the local 
authority.

Reason: In order to prevent noise and disturbance of neighbouring residents 
in accordance with policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

Informative
 
02 Care should be taken to ensure that all fuels, oils and any other 
potentially contaminating materials or hazardous materials should be stored in 
compliance with the relevant regulations in the interests of health and safety 
and in order to prevent accidental/unauthorised discharge to ground. The 
areas for storage should not drain to any surface water system.

 

97. 18/01367/OUT 
 PROSPECT PLACE, SHELLBANK LANE, BEAN.  DA2 8AX 

The Board considered an Outline application for the demolition of existing 
dwelling and outbuildings, and the erection of 2 pairs of semi-detached 
dwellings (4 units in total) with associated parking and amenity space 
(consideration of access only) at this site.

The Chairman introduced Mr Fuller who spoke against the application and 
Mrs Dixon who supported it.

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated.

RESOLVED

That the Application be approved subject to the Conditions, Reasons and 
Informatives set out in the Report

 

98. 18/01288/FUL 
 MILL HOUSE, PRIORY ROAD, DARTFORD, KENT. 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 14 FEBRUARY 2019

6

A report was presented on an application for the replacement of an existing 
pitched roof with a mansard roof to provide two self-contained two - 
bedroomed apartments within the roof space at second storey level, together 
with the reconfiguration of the existing curtilage and parking area to provide 
amenity space, bin store, cycle store and 3 additional car parking spaces.

RESOLVED

That the application be approved subject to the Conditions, Reasons and 
Informative set out in the report.

99. 18/00927/FUL 
 THE WILLOWS, 1B FAESTEN WAY, BEXLEY, KENT.  DA5 2JB 

A report on an application for the demolition of an existing detached double 
garage and construction of a proposed two storey 3 bedroom detached 
dwelling was considered by the Board.

The Chairman introduced Mr Pullum who spoke against the application and 
Mr Hall who supported it. 

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated.

RESOLVED

That consideration of the application be deferred to allow a visit to the area of 
the development to allow Members to familiarise themselves with the site.

100. 18/01548/COU  
 HOLY TRINITY CHURCH, HIGH STREET DARTFORD, KENT.  DA1 1DE 

The Board received a report on an application for the change of use of 43 
square metres of land, to rear of the church, for play space and the erection of 
a timber fence (retrospective application).

The Chairman introduced Mrs Copley who spoke against the Officer 
recommendation to refuse the application.

RESOLVED 

That consideration of the application be deferred to enable officers to 
negotiate an acceptable style of fencing and suitable operating hours for the 
play space.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 14 FEBRUARY 2019

7

101. 18/01549/LBC  
 HOLY TRINITY CHURCH, HIGH STREET DARTFORD, KENT.  DA1 1DE 

The Board considered an application for Listed Building Consent for the 
change of use of 43 metres square of land to rear of church for play space, 
and erection of timber fence (retrospective application)

The Chairman introduced Mr Copley who spoke against the Officer 
recommendation to refuse the application.

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated.

RESOLVED

That the application be refused for the reasons set out in the report.

102. 18/01404/FUL 
 172 BIRCHWOOD ROAD, WILMINGTON, KENT. 

The Board received a report on an application for the erection of 3 boundary 
walls comprising brick piers and infill metal railings and close boarded fence 
panels (part retrospective application) at this property.

The Chairman introduced Mr Brown who spoke against the application and Mr 
Clay who supported it. 

RESOLVED
That the application be approved subject to the Conditions Reasons and 
Informative set out in the report.

103. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE 

The Board received a report on the performance of the Development Control 
Section for the three month period October to December 2018.

The Board noted the information provided, and congratulated Officers on the 
high level of service being maintained. 

104. DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

Members received, for information, a report on the decisions taken by Officers 
under delegated powers for the period 4 January to 30 January 2019.

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 14 FEBRUARY 2019

8

The meeting closed at 9.50 pm

Councillor D E HUNNISETT
CHAIRMAN



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

18 April 2019

Reference: 18/00927/FUL Officer: Abigail Lavery

Location: The Willows 
1B Faesten Way
Bexley
DA5 2JB

Proposal: Demolition of existing detached double garage and construction of proposed 
two storey 3 bedroom detached dwelling

Applicant: Mr Martin Hall

Agent: Mr Richard Clark

Parish / Ward: Wilmington Parish Council / Joydens Wood

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The site is part of the curtilage of The Willows, 1B Faesten Way and is located on the 
eastern side of the road. It is accessed via a shared private driveway to the north of the property 
which is also used by 1A Faesten Way.

(2) The Willows has a site area in the region of 660 square metres and the land levels 
across the site are relatively even. The access from the main road slopes from the highway into 
the site which sits at a slightly lower level than the road. The boundary treatment consists largely 
of close boarded fencing and a hedge on the south eastern boundary with 1A Faesten Way. 

(3) The site contains a detached house and detached double garage, a small number of 
sheds and a summerhouse which sits on an area of decking to the south eastern corner of the 
garden. The section of garden to the rear of The Willows is decked with a patio area. The 
existing dwelling is a chalet style property with dormer windows in either side of the roof slope, 
one of these faces Faesten Way to the west and the other faces the neighbouring property 1A 
Faesten Way to the east.

(4) The site contains a number of trees which are protected by Tree Preservation Orders. 

(5) The site is bordered to the north by the shared access and further to the north, the rear 
gardens of Nos. 35 and 33 Tile Kiln Lane. Their gardens have depths of 12 and 14 metres 
respectively. To the west Nos. 4, 6, 8, 10 and 12 Faesten Way sit on the other side of the road 
and face the side (western) boundary of the site. The front elevations of these properties are a 
minimum of 13 metres from the site. 

(6) The eastern boundary of the site is shared with 1A Faesten Way. This neighbour is a 
detached two storey dwelling which was extended almost up to the boundary in the 1980s in 
the form of a two storey side and single storey side extension, a canopy to the front and a 
detached garage. The neighbour's property sits close to the shared boundary and has a window 
at ground floor level in its side elevation facing the site. This window serves a small room in an 
existing extension which is used as a TV room/office. 



THE PROPOSAL

(7) I note for Member's information that the proposal is the same as that which was 
reported to the February Development Control Board meeting but was deferred to allow a site 
visit to be conducted by Members.

(8) The proposal is for a two storey, 3 bedroom detached dwelling to be located on land to 
the side of 1B Faesten Way. 

(9) A garden with a depth of approximately 10 metres will be provided to the rear/south of 
the dwelling and 2 parking spaces, to the front curtilage.

(10) The existing double garage and some small outbuildings are to be demolished to 
accommodate the dwelling and sufficient parking space. 2 replacement parking spaces and a 
forecourt area will be provided to the front of the existing property, The Willows. 

(11) It is proposed to remove/infill some existing ground and first floor windows in the east 
facing side elevation of the existing dwelling on site. Internal changes to the first floor bedrooms 
serve by the windows to be infilled are also proposed.  This would involve the repositioning of 
the bedroom walls so that they can be served by front and rear facing existing windows.  These 
works seek to ensure that the existing residents at 1B Faesten Way are not unduly affected by 
the proposal.  

RELEVANT HISTORY

(12) The application was reported to the Development Control Board in February 2019. It 
was decided by members at this meeting to defer the application for a member site visit. The 
site visit is due to take place on the 13th of April 2019.

(13) 11/00930/TPO: Application to crown reduce by 30% 1 No. Ash tree adjacent to 
boundary with 1C Faesten Way subject to Tree Preservation Order No.12 1983 - Consent. 

(14) 11/00921/TPO: Application to fell 1 No. Ash tree adjacent to boundary with 1C Faesten 
Way subject to Tree Preservation Order No.12 1983 - refused as it was determined that 
inadequate evidence had been provided to justify the felling of the tree on arboricultural grounds 
(It is proposed to retain this tree as part of the application).

(15) 05/00070/OUT: Outline application for the demolition of existing double garage & 
erection of a detached 2 bedroom chalet bungalow with detached garage; detached garage for 
existing dwelling & creation of a new vehicular access - refused and appeal dismissed. The 
application was refused as it was considered that the size of the site and relationship to 
adjoining properties was inadequate and would therefore appear cramped and out of character 
in the Area of Special Residential Character (ASRC).

(16) 92/00208/TPO - Application to reduce height from 60' to 30' of 5 no. Ash trees and 
prune one Ash subject of Tree Preservation Order No.12 1983 - Consent.

(17) 83/00270/OUTO1 5No 4 bed detached houses with associated parking provided 
& garage & provision of garages/parking spaces for 2 existing houses to be retained - approved.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(18) Tree consultant - the Council's Tree Consultant has advised, based on the BS5837 
survey that there may be some impact to the protected Oak Tree however he has indicated 
agreement with the conclusion of the survey provided by the applicants that "impacts can be 
suitably mitigated and minimised through minimal-dig designs, root pruning and arboricultural 
supervision." He has advised that whilst the development would result in more pressure on the 
trees, the risk of harm is low.  



(19) Thames Water - No objection to the planning application based on the information 
provided. An informative suggesting that any discharge to a public sewer requires a permit. 

(20) Environmental Health - recommend conditions in relation to hours of working during 
construction and external lighting. 

(21) Kent Fire Brigade - No comments received

(22) Wilmington Parish Council - Object to the proposal on the following grounds 

- Cramped appearance of development 
- Back-garden windfall development inappropriate within the rural area of 

Joydens Wood
- Concern about whether existing utilities can accommodate the development

(23) Kent Highways - Based on the description of the development the Highway Authority 
advised that the development proposal does not meet the criteria to warrant involvement from 
the Highway Authority.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(24) Neighbours were notified of the application on the 9th of August 2018. Five letters of 
objection were received in response, 2 of these were received from the same neighbour. 

(25) The neighbour to the east which shares a boundary with the site objects on the 
following grounds:

- Concern in relation to the protected Oak tree 
- Overlooking of their property 
- Reduction in natural light 
- Parking and access concerns 
- Makes reference to previous refusal on site
- Some matters which are not material planning considerations were also raised 

including in relation to building works 

(26) Nos.31, 33 and 35 Tile Kiln Lane which border the private access to the site to the north 
and north-east object on for the following reasons:

- Overcrowding 
- Overlooking and impact on privacy
- Loss of light
- Noise pollution and disturbance from additional vehicles
- Drainage capacity 
- Concern about access
- Disturbance from security lighting 
- Some concerns were also raised in relation to construction works which is not 

a material planning consideration

RELEVANT POLICIES

(27) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(28) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development
CS10: Housing Provision



(29) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design in Dartford
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development
DP4: Transport Access and Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection 
DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations 
DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity
DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development 
DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement 

(30) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(31) Housing Windfall Supplementary Planning Document 2014

(32) The NPPF is also a material consideration.  

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(33) I consider that the key issues relate to whether the principle of development on site is 
acceptable, the impact on the character and appearance of the area, the impact on existing 
surrounding residents, the quality of accommodation proposed for future occupants, parking 
provision, impact on the nearby protected trees.

Principle of residential development 

(34) In terms of the principle of development, the two main matters for consideration are the 
acceptability of the site for development in relation to windfall and greenfield garden land.

(35) The provision of new dwellings on land that has not been identified for such 
development within the adopted Local Plan should be carefully considered against policies 
CS10, DP6 and DP7.  In addition, the Housing Windfall SPD is a material consideration.
 
(36) As the most up-to-date planning policy, Policy DP6 is the starting point now for 
considering windfall sites. Policy DP6 advises that unplanned windfall residential development 
may be permitted following assessment in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS10:4&5, as 
well as other development plan policies and material considerations.  CS10 4 directs 
assessments of windfall site to consider the sustainability of the site for housing development, 
whether the benefits outweigh the disbenefits of the scheme and the capacity of the 
infrastructure to serve the development.  CS10 5 identifies the need to monitor infrastructure 
and put measures in place to address concerns. Policy DP6 responds to this latter criterion to 
some extent.  It is not the intention of Policy CS10 to prevent the development of windfall sites 
but the aim of the windfall assessment is to ensure that these unidentified sites do not 
undermine the strategy for planned development through cumulatively overloading future 
infrastructure provision. 

(37) It should also be noted that Policy DP6 directs new housing developments of 5 or more 
units to previously developed/brownfield land.  This is to ensure that the Core Strategy target 
of 80% of development on brownfield sites.  Although this proposal is only for 1 additional 
dwelling, directing development towards brownfield land is still preferable noting the wording at 
paragraph 9.21 in the supporting text to Policy DP6 - residential development of unplanned 
greenfield sites must only be exceptional.  Coupled with this is Policy DP7 which seeks to 
maintain garden land (classed as greenfield in built-up areas such as this).  Maintaining garden 
land helps to retain choice and diversity in housing stock the local character.  Clearly this site 
is garden land/a greenfield site and so on the face of it this is a disbenefit of the proposal.   
However, I will discuss below that no harm would arise in terms of the impact on the character 
of the area.  There would be a reduction in the size of the rear garden for the existing property 



but I do not consider that this would lead to a harmful loss of choice of housing stock.  There is 
a wide variety of house types and garden sizes in the local area.

(38) In assessing the development against policies DP6 and CS10, I note that the 
supporting text to Policy DP6 recognises that the consideration to the needs for social, 
community and green infrastructure as required will relate to the scale of the development 
proposed. Whilst this is a relevant consideration for major sites this is difficult to consider on 
smaller sites such as this. I am of the opinion therefore that the main consideration with regard 
to the sustainability for this small site development is its location and access to services and 
facilities. 

(39) The Council published a windfall sites supplementary planning document (SPD) in 
October 2014 which clarifies how Policy CS10 is to be assessed.  It seeks to ensure that windfall 
sites are considered against the same assessment criteria as the identified sites for the SHLAA. 

(40) I have considered the proposed development against the criteria set out in the SPD.  In 
terms of accessibility/sustainability of the location, the site is within a 5-6 minute walk to the 
local infant/junior schools and a 12 minute walk to a local pre-school, shops, community hall 
and library.  The closest bus stops are approximately a 4 minute walk away and the services 
are fairly regular.  The site is clearly in a sustainable and accessible location in an established 
residential neighbourhood. The site is in walking distance of various facilities and has good 
access to public transport. Core Strategy Policy CS1 seeks to promote sustainable patterns of 
development and to protect less appropriate areas by focussing development within locations 
in the urban area which are accessible and well supported by public transport. I consider that 
this site complies with the objective of Policy CS1.

(41) I am of the view that, on balance, the development of this site although garden land is 
within a sustainable and accessible location which is not harmful to the character of the area. 
An overall assessment of the dis-benefits and benefits of the proposal will be considered in the 
conclusion of this report.  However, in principle, I consider that the development would be 
acceptable. 

Impact on character and visual amenities

(42) Policy DP7 considers infill development and seeks to ensure that the historical pattern 
and form of development is preserved, that access to the development is safe and would not 
create undue disruption to the character and appearance of the area or existing properties.  The 
proposal should not result in material harm to residential amenities.  

(43) The site contains 1 dwelling with a garden to the side, which is notably larger than 
others in the surrounding area, and has a modest garden to the rear. I am satisfied that the 
division of the plot to form an additional dwelling and garden will be able to provide good quality 
amenity space and parking areas for both units.  I do not consider that the proposed 
development will be out of character. The proposed dwelling would sit on approximately the 
same building line as the existing house providing a comparable rear garden. Nos. 1A and 1B 
Faesten Way are existing infill dwellings and they do not face the street.  The proposed dwelling 
would continue this pattern and would sit logically between them. 

(44) I have also observed that the area surrounding Faesten Way has been subject to a 
number of infill developments in the last 30 years including on Tile Kiln Lane and Faesten Way 
and as such I am of the view that the principle of infill developments has been established.

(45) Access to the development is not likely to create undue disruption as it will utilise an 
existing shared access and will not result in noticeable additional hard standing in the street 
scene. I do not consider that the increased use of the access by one additional dwelling will 
create significantly more disruption to existing residents. The impact on existing properties will 
be considered below but in general, I consider that the proposal is in conformity with Policy 
DP7.  



(46) In terms of visual amenity, the surrounding pattern of development consists largely of 
two storey detached and semi-detached dwellings. The proposed house, as a two storey 
property with a hipped roof will integrate well with this. The ridge height would be similar to the 
adjacent property number 1a Faesten Way but slightly higher than The Willows.  There is 
already a variation in roof heights and style in the surrounding area and in this respect, the 
development would be acceptable in my view. 

(47) The materials proposed are shown to be white render with grey bricks and tiling. There 
is a mix of materials in the immediate surroundings including white render and red and grey 
tiling. Both 1B and 1A Faesten Way feature some white render. I consider that these will 
integrate sufficiently with the surrounding mix of materials. 

(48) The existing dwelling - The Willows is atypical of surrounding dwellings in terms of its 
side facing windows and their removal to accommodate the new house, whilst leaving a larger 
section of uninterrupted flank wall, will not be visible in the street scene due to the proximity of 
the new house to the existing flank elevation.

(49) I will discuss the impact on the protected trees below but overall, the development 
would not result in a notable loss of 'greenery' within the site.  If members are minded to approve 
the application then a landscaping condition would be applied to ensure that, in addition to the 
retained protected trees, the landscaping of the site is of a high quality for future residents.

Impact on existing residents 

(50) In terms of the impact on the existing dwelling on site, 1B The Willows, the proposal 
includes of the removal of windows in the side of the house and internal alterations.   This is to 
address the fact that the new dwelling would have overshadowed these windows and severely 
limited any outlook from them. The submitted drawings show that each room of the existing 
dwelling will be provided with a window to the front, rear or west elevations which will provide 
sufficient light and outlook and will not result in harm to their amenities.  As the application site 
encompasses the existing property - 1B The Willows and the applicant is also the owner of this 
property, these alterations are enforceable if required by condition.  

(51) 1B The Willows will retain a rear garden in the region of 130 square metres and a depth 
of 11 metres. Whilst there is no adopted standard in relation to minimum amenity space I 
consider that, based on aerial mapping, this garden will be comparable to a number of 
surrounding garden sizes. It is also south facing and so will continue to receive a good amount 
of sunlight and daylight.  

(52) The dwelling will sit on the same building line as the neighbouring dwellings with no 
significant projection past the front or rear of them. A landing window is proposed however this 
will not cause overlooking as it can be obscure glazed. The front windows will be around 15 
metres from the rear boundaries of properties on Tile Kiln Lane and there is a fair degree of 
screening between these and the proposed front elevation. The windows in the rear elevation 
will be over 11 metres from the boundary with 1C Faesten Way to the south which should not 
cause any overshadowing or overlooking of this property. 

(53) The neighbouring property to the east, 1A Faesten Way, is a detached dwelling which 
is extended almost to the boundary (set away 1 metre). This property has a window in its 
western (side) elevation at ground floor level. This window serves a room in the property's 
existing extension. I have been advised by this neighbour that this is used as a TV room and 
office, it is not in a primary living area. Having visited the neighbouring property I would note 
that there is a relatively high hedge in front of this window and as such its light and outlook is 
quite limited. The proposed flank wall would be 2 metres from this window. In terms of the siting 
of the proposed two storey flank wall close to this window this would result in some loss of light 
and outlook however as it is not a primary living area and a relatively small room in an extension 
I do not consider that this will be detrimental to the amenities of the occupiers.

(54) Overall, I consider that the plot can accommodate the additional dwelling without 
causing significant harm to existing residents. 



Quality of accommodation:

(55) The dwelling will have a gross internal floor area of 106 square metres. This exceeds 
the requirement of the Nationally Described Space Standards for a 3 bed, 5 person house and 
each bedroom meets required internal floor area. To the rear a garden of around 87 square 
metres and a depth of 10 metres will be provided. The garden will be to the south of the property 
and as such will have a good aspect in terms of daylight and sunlight. Having seen the trees in 
situ on site I do not consider that these will result in excessive overshadowing of the garden as 
their spread is limited. I consider that their positioning around the boundaries of the site will 
provide a good green setting for the proposed dwelling.

(56) There is a high level window in the side of the property to the rear that faces the site, it 
is likely that this serves a bathroom or a hallway due to its limited size and high level and 
therefore I am not concerned that this will overlook the proposed dwelling to an unacceptable 
degree.

(57) Overall I consider that the quality of the proposed accommodation would be 
acceptable. 

Parking provision 

(58) Two spaces will be provided for the proposed dwelling and at least 2 will be retained 
for the existing house. This accords with the requirements of the Council's adopted Parking 
Standards SPD. Based on the site plans it does seem that 3 spaces could be accommodated 
at the existing dwelling to allow for additional visitor parking and that there is some on street 
capacity in Faesten Way. 

Impact on protected trees

(59) The site is surrounded by a number of protected and unprotected trees and contains 2 
existing protected trees. These trees are protected under TPO no. 12 1983.  Any development 
in proximity to trees is likely to have some level of impact on them. It is necessary to determine 
what the level of impact there will be balanced against amenity value of the protected tree/s. 

(60) The submitted tree survey concludes that "there is a risk of the development proposal 
having an adverse impact on the existing trees both above and below ground. These impacts 
can be suitably mitigated and minimised through minimal-dig designs, root pruning and 
arboricultural supervision." The Council's tree consultant has indicated agreement with the 
above conclusion.

(61)  The tree which the consultant advises is most likely to be affected is a protected Oak 
Tree which is within the neighbouring garden, 1A Faesten Way. The Oak Tree is over 20 metres 
from the highway boundary which does reduce its prominence in the street scene somewhat. 
According to the Tree Survey provided this has been classified as a Category B (Moderate 
Quality) tree. The Tree survey provides specific recommendations as to how any impact on the 
tree can be best minimised. If Members are minded to approve the application then the specific 
details of the proposed digging methods and type of hard surfacing proposed will be required 
by condition.

(62) The garage which currently sits within the aforementioned Oak's root protection area 
is to be removed. It was the intention to erect a new smaller garage however following 
discussion with the applicants it has been decided that the garage will be removed and no 
replacement is now proposed. Provided a permeable surface is used for the parking area this 
should relieve some pressure on the roots of the Oak tree and allow water to penetrate as well 
as reduce any need to prune the canopy above the garage.

(63) The Oak Tree is quite close to the existing dwelling at 1A Faesten Way but is in good 
health nonetheless. The proposed dwelling will sit at a similar distance, if not slightly further 
from the Oak tree. As such, given the health of the tree within this built up context, I have no 



reason to suggest that with appropriate mitigation measures, the Oak's health cannot continue 
to be preserved.    

(64) The most prominent specimen, which I consider makes the highest contribution to the 
street scene, is the protected Ash Tree located to the southern side of the private driveway just 
outside of the application site and close to the entrance to the site. No works are proposed in 
close proximity to this tree. I consider that the use of the driveway by additional cars to the 
single dwelling proposed should not cause a significant impact bearing in mind that the access 
is already utilised by 2 dwellings.

(65) An unprotected Eucalyptus tree is proposed to be removed and is described by the 
Council's Tree Consultant as a category U tree and he agrees that this can be lost without any 
harm to character of the area. 

(66) I would note that what is on site appears to correlate with the tree survey however the 
Council's Tree Preservation Order records appear to differ from this.  Essentially, there are less 
trees on site than the TPO identifies.  I am not aware of any consent having been given for the 
felling of any of the protected trees on site however based on aerial photography there has 
been little change in the tree situation on site since 2003.  As such this is an historic issue which 
should not affect the determination of the current planning application.

(67) Based on the advice of the Council's tree consultant and the arboricultural report 
provided by the applicants I consider that there is adequate evidence to show that the proposal 
should not give rise to the loss of, or harm to, any protected trees or high quality specimens. 
Measures are to be taken to mitigate any impact including the complete removal of the garage 
with no replacement proposed. 

(68) If members are minded to approve the application then I recommend a condition for 
the submission of a detailed methodology in relation to the works in proximity to the trees. It is 
not considered that any replacement is needed for the unprotected category U tree which is to 
be removed.

Other issues 

(69) Given the small scale and residential nature of this development, despite the request 
from Environmental Health in respect of controlling external lighting, I do not consider that this 
is necessary or justified.  However, as the site is access off a shared private drive I consider 
that a condition controlling hours of construction is appropriate in this case

(70) In terms of concerns raised in relation to the capacity of existing utilities, Thames Water 
have indicated that they do not object to the proposal and I consider that a single dwelling 
should not overload existing infrastructure capacity.

(71) In terms of the previously refused application for a dwelling on this site, there are 
differences between the two proposals.  The area is no longer an Area of Special Residential 
Character and the proposed layout is materially different to the previous proposal. The previous 
application also proposed a new vehicular access and additional hard standing, the current 
proposal will utilise an existing access.  I therefore consider that the current proposal has been 
altered to the extent that the previous reasons for refusal have fallen away. 

FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(72) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.

(73) In this particular case the following are the 'financial benefits' which I am aware of:



(74) Community Infrastructure Levy:  CIL is charged on the net increase in floorspace of the 
proposed development and in this case a chargeable area of 55.50 square metres results in a 
CIL liability of £15047.70, which subject to indexation will be paid on implementation. As 
Members are aware the CIL money achieved from developments goes into a pot and must be 
used to fund infrastructure to support development in the area, this includes new schools and 
strategic junction improvements where the money will be paid to the authorities responsible for 
providing these services.  In addition 15 % of the CIL payment will be passed to Wilmington 
Parish Council in accordance with CIL Regulations. I consider that this is a material 
consideration with regard to this proposal, as if the development were to commence, CIL 
monies received will assist in the delivery of  infrastructure projects that supports local 
development.

(75) New Homes Bonus: is a grant paid by central government to local councils to reflect 
and incentivise housing growth in their areas. It is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new homes. Allocations are set by Government each year and so the amount 
of New Homes Bonus is not fixed for this proposal.  I consider this is not a material consideration 
with regard to the determination of the planning application.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(76) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(77) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(78) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017) the proposal is not Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. It is not 
considered to require a screening opinion.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(79) Based on the above assessment of the key issues I consider that this application is an 
acceptable form of small site windfall development. The assessment has demonstrated that the 
site is sustainably located in an established residential neighbourhood, it does not impose an 
excessive burden on local infrastructure, it will not have an adverse impact on adjoining 
properties, the design and appearance of the development is high-quality and the proposal has 
adequate access with sufficient parking facilities. On balance therefore I consider that the 
benefits of developing in this sustainable location mean that the proposal is in compliance with 
the objectives of Policy CS10 and Policy DP7 in that the perceived benefits outweigh the limited 
disbenefits . I consider this to be an acceptable development of a small site.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval subject to the following conditions:

Conditions:

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

01 In pursuance of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act



02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: RDC/1B/003, RDC/1B/006 rev A, RDC/1B/002 rev B, RDC/1B/001 rev A

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 No development shall take place on site until the internal and external alterations to The 
Willows 1b Faesten Way as shown on drawing nos. RDC/1B006 rev. A have been 
completed.

03 In the interests of safeguarding the residential amenities of the existing dwelling on site 
in accordance with Policy DP7 of the adopted Local Plan.

04 Before commencement of any building operations on site (including demolition and 
delivery of associated machinery or materials) a full methodology in relation to tree 
protection measures for all protected trees and trees to be retained on site shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority including digging methods, final ground levels 
and protective fencing and programme for its phasing and removal. Such measures shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and there shall be no storage of 
materials or plant within the tree protection areas.

04 To prevent damage to the trees in the interest of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policies DP2 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

05 Before commencement of the development hereby approved, details of existing and 
proposed levels of the land and building(s), including a contoured site plan, shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

05 In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the sloping nature 
of the site and the amenities of neighbouring occupants in accordance with Policies DP2 
and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

06 Before commencement of the development beyond slab level hereby approved details 
and samples of all materials to be used externally shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

06 To ensure that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
existing building or the visual amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

07 No construction work shall take place on the site outside the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays with no working on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

07 To protect the amenities of the residents of nearby dwellings in accordance with Policies 
DP5 and DP20 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

08 Prior to development beyond slab level of the new dwelling hereby approved, a 
landscaping scheme including both hard and soft landscaping which shall include the 
retention of existing trees on site (with the exception of the identified category U trees), 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved landscaping shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the dwelling 
hereby approved (unless this falls outside of the planting season in which case the soft 
landscaping shall be implemented at the first opportunity during the following planting 
season, between October and March inclusive). The landscaping shall thereafter be 
maintained for a period of five years. Any trees, shrubs or grassed areas which die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within this period shall be replaced 
within the next planting season with plants of similar species and size to that approved.



08 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

09 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved details of all boundary 
treatments and enclosures shall be erected in accordance with the approved details to 
have been submitted and approved by the local planning authority. Such boundary 
treatment shall be maintained thereafter.

09 To ensure that the boundary treatment is acceptable in terms of visual impact in 
accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

10 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved the first floor window(s) in the 
western side elevation(s) of the building serving the landing shall be obscure glazed with 
a minimum obscurity level of 3 as referred to in the Pilkington Texture Glass Range 
leaflet, or nearest equivalent as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Such glazing shall be incapable of being opened with the exception of any top hung fan 
lights, and shall subsequently be maintained as such at all times.

10 To safeguard the privacy of adjoining residents in accordance with Policies DP2 and DP5 
of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

11 The car parking spaces, turning areas and means of access shown on the approved 
plans for both the existing and proposed dwelling shall be provided prior to occupation 
of the relevant dwelling hereby approved and kept available for such use at all times and 
no development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 or not, shall be carried out on that area of land or 
to preclude vehicular access thereto.

11 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2 and DP4 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES

01 A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 
discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is 
deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry 
Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries 
should be directed to Thames Water's Risk Management Team by telephoning 
02035779483 or by emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application 
forms should be completed on line via 
https://mail1.dartford.gov.uk/enduser/classify_url.html?url=5p5ZO6jFgY067P9bzN//xiBk
wrsI1S0aWyO5z5+p80dt4S7nkUS8uXVxO5TwQ8q0

02 If planning permission is granted for the development which is the subject of this notice, 
liability for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payment is likely to arise.  Persons with 
an interest in the land are advised to consult the CIL guide on Dartford Council's Website 
(http://tinyurl.com/DartfordCIL) for information on the charge and any exemptions or 
relief, and to submit the relevant forms (available from www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil)  to 
the Council before commencement to avoid additional interest or surcharges.  If liable, a 
CIL Liability Notice will be sent detailing the charges, which will be registered as a local 
land charge against the relevant land.



House

Darmell

Cambaling

Brignoles

Ca
sit

o

Drain

Dene

Und

Kinloch

Tamar

Junior School

Jarruh

El

Chevening

Tree Tops

The Everglades

Def

CL
O

SE

HAMMERTON

FAESTEN WAY

PA
RK

 W
AY

Denewood
Lads Love

Lynton

Trevden

Woodhaven

Darston

29

55

49

11
4

35a

30

47

1

18

63

35b

2

27

1a

15

1b

11

13

37

16

25

23

35

6

Espero

Fossli

Querida

Rockley

Kirn

Fernlea

Dinard

Le Endan

Petanna
Cap D'or

40.0m

Cornell

Teign

Tintagel

BM 39.76m

FB

TILE KILN LANE

CR

55

Fossli

PA
R

K 
W

AY

1

FA
ES

TE
N 

W
AY

PARK WAY

47

PARK WAY

15

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/00927/FUL

Address : The Willows  1B Faesten Way Bexley DA5 2JB 

Date: 3 April 2019 Scale: Not to Scale



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

18 April 2019

Reference: 18/00949/COU Officer: Abigail Lavery

Location: Willow Court
31B Devon Road
Sutton At Hone
Kent
DA4 9AA

Proposal: Conversion of existing unauthorised building to a 2 bed dwelling and addition 
of a rear dormer

Applicant: Mr M Ayton

Agent: Fluid Planning Ltd/Mr Dan McEwan

Parish / Ward: Sutton At Hone & Hawley P.C. / Sutton At Hone & Hawley

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The site is located on the northern side of Devon Road. The application site includes 
an existing access located between No.30 and Nos. 31/31A Devon Road (maisonettes). This 
access is shared with Nos.31/31A and serves and area of hardstanding and garaging at the 
rear of these properties. The application site extends to the rear of the hardstanding area and 
spans the full width of the plot. It is occupied by an unused building, that has not been fully 
completed, with breeze block walls and boarding in the spaces for doors and windows.

(2) The application site has an area in the region of 540 square metres, its widest point is 
12 metres wide and it has a total depth (from the highway boundary to its rear boundary) of 
approximately 71 metres. The building's rear garden has a depth in the region of 25 metres.  At 
a point 10 metres from the rear of the building the rear garden extends into the Green Belt. The 
land levels across the site are relatively even.

(3) The site is bordered to the north and North West by open land which is identified as 
Green Belt, Borough Open Space and a Local Wildlife Site. The vast majority of the site is within 
flood zone 2 and a small part of it is within flood zone 3. To the east and west the site is bordered 
by residential properties.

(4) Based on a review of the plans for previous applications at this site (DA/91/00659/FUL 
and DA/16/00850/COU), the building as constructed does not reflect that which was permitted 
by the above applications. The current application would effectively regularise the building in 
its current form as well as allow its proposed use as a 2 bedroom dwelling.  The building is 
currently unused. 

(5) In terms of the wider context the area is predominately residential and the site is in the 
region of 150 metres from the Borough boundary with Sevenoaks.

THE PROPOSAL

(6) The proposal is for the use of the existing building on site as a 2 bedroom dwelling. The 
application also seeks also to regularise the building currently on site. 



(7) There is an extant permission (DA/16/00850/COU) which gave planning permission for 
the use of the building (that was partly built on the site at the time) as a 2 bedroom dwelling. It 
also granted planning permission for the completion of the building with a dual pitched roof and 
front and rear dormers set to one side of the roof.  The proposed roof shown on the current 
proposal is 0.8m higher than the roof approved in 2016, the eaves are 0.2m higher and there 
is a central front dormer and two rear dormers.  There are also slight alterations to the windows 
in the front elevation and slight changes to the internal layout.  Given the extant nature of the 
2016 permission for the use of the building as a dwelling, the key issues to consider under the 
current application will be the changes to the roof and elevations as noted. 

(8) A block plan showing 2 car parking spaces to the front of the new dwelling has been 
provided. 

RELEVANT HISTORY

(9) 88/00790/OUT - Erection of a detached bungalow and garage - REFUSED

(10) 91/00659/FUL - Erection of a detached building with external staircase to provide 
garage and workshop on ground floor and timber storage in roof space - APPROVED 

(11) 07/00033/FUL - Demolition of two workshop buildings and erection of a two storey 
detached building to provide 2 No. studio flats with associated parking at ground floor level - 
REFUSED

(12) 14/00162/ENF - Enforcement Notice regarding partial construction of a building. 
APPEAL ALLOWED and Enforcement Notice quashed which confirmed that the planning 
permission granted under reference 91/00659/FUL for a Class B1 workshop had been 
implemented within the required time limit and could still therefore be completed. 

(13) 16/00850/FUL - Erection of one 2 bedroom dwelling incorporating provision of a dormer 
window in front and rear elevations and roof lights in rear elevation in connection with providing 
additional rooms in the roof space and associated parking and landscape in connection with 
use of land for residential - APPROVED

(14) 18/00176/P3A - Application under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class PA of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior 
approval is required for change of use from light industrial use (Class B1c) to residential (Class 
C3) to provide 1 x 2 bed dwelling house - PRIOR APPROVAL REQUIRED AND REFUSED

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(15) Environment Agency - Following the submission of additional information, no objection 
to the application. At the request of the agent the 2016 FRA from the previous application 
(16/00850/FUL) was sent to the EA and they responded to say that they did not object to the 
application based on this FRA. 

(16) Environmental Health recommend a contaminated land assessment and a working 
hours condition. If Members are minded to approve the application then these are included at 
the end of this report.

(17) Kent Highways - made comments to state that the scale of the proposal did not merit 
their involvement

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(18) Neighbours were consulted in August 2018 and April 2019. Three letters of objection 
were received, 2 from nearby neighbours and 1 from a local Ward Member.  A summary of their 
comments is as follows:



- The neighbour to the east objects on the grounds that the building is 'an 
eyesore' and that they have experienced a loss of privacy. Other issues are 
mentioned which are not material planning concerns. 

- A nearby resident has objected on the grounds that the development is 
inappropriate, contrary to planning policies, represents a loss of green 
'breathing' space, safe places for children to play and space for urban wildlife 
and that 'it destroys the character of the village'. This objector makes reference 
to the planning history. 

- The Ward Member objects to the application on the grounds that this is back-
land development in the Green Belt and would unacceptably diminish amenity 
space for 31b and 31a Devon Road

(19) Any further representations received as a result of the April consultations will be 
reported in the Update to Members before the meeting. 

RELEVANT POLICIES

(20) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(21) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS7: Employment Land and Jobs
CS10: Housing Provision
CS13: Green Belt

(22) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development 
DP4: Transport Access and Design 
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection
DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations 
DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity 
DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development 
DP22: Green Belt in the Borough

(23) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(24) Housing Windfall Supplementary Planning Document 2014

(25) The NPPF is also a material consideration.  

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(26) Since planning permission has recently been granted for the creation of a 2 bedroom 
dwelling at the site and this permission is still extant I consider that the principle of development 
has been established.  The key issues relate primarily to whether there have been any material 
changes in the circumstances relating to this application in respect of relevant planning policies, 
the proposed plans and the site itself. 



Planning policy considerations 

(27) Since the granting of the previous application the Dartford Development Policies Plan 
(DDPP 2017) has been adopted and a new National Planning Policy Framework (2019) has 
been published. 

(28) At the time of the 2016 application the DDPP was emerging and all of these emerging 
policies were mentioned in the Officer's report to the Development Control Board dated 10th 
November 2016.  The Officer gave full consideration to Dartford's adopted windfall policies at 
the time.

(29) The adoption of the DDPP and the new NPPF are material considerations however 
there has been little change to these policy documents which would result in a different 
consideration with regard to planning policy for the current proposal compared with the extant 
permission for residential use

(30) The location of the dwelling to the rear of existing dwellings i.e. 'backland development' 
was carefully considered at the time of the previous 2016 application.  However due to the 
previous commercial use permitted on site and its extant status, it was considered that the 
development would be appropriate.  A residential use was considered to be more suited to the 
location. 

(31) I therefore consider that there have been no changes to the relevant planning policies 
that would lead me to a different conclusion in respect of the principle of the development. 

Changes to the building

(32) The differences from the proposal already granted permission in 2016 have been 
outlined above. In terms of the visual impact of these changes I consider that the design and 
form of the building is quite similar and that the alterations do not result in a materially different 
impact on the character and appearance of the area.

(33) The windows and doors are to the front and rear elevations with none proposed in 
either side elevation. The rear (north facing) windows will face northwards over the rear garden 
of the new dwelling itself which is bordered to the rear by open fields and trees. The front (south) 
facing windows will be located around 20 metres from windows in the rear elevations of the 
existing properties facing onto Devon Road. The south facing dormer window will serve a 
bedroom which is also served by a rear facing dormer window and therefore if the front window 
were to be obscure glazed this bedroom would still enjoy an acceptable outlook. If members 
are minded to approve the application I recommend a condition that this front facing dormer 
window is provided with obscure glazing and fixed shut with the exception of a top hung fan 
light.   This will prevent any harmful overlooking of the neighbouring properties.

(34) In terms of the 3 No. ground floor windows in the front (south) elevation one of these 
will serve the main hallway adjacent to the front door, one will serve the kitchen/diner and one 
will serve a living room. The hallway is not a habitable room and as such, if members are 
minded to approve the application I recommend a condition that this be obscure glazed and 
fixed shut except from a top hung fan light. The garages serving the flats (Nos. 31 and 31A) are 
located between the window to the eastern side of the building and the rear of the flats thereby 
preventing any overlooking. The ground floor window to the western side of the front elevation 
is located opposite the vehicular access to the building and as such its direct outlook will not 
result in loss of privacy for the flats. I also note that there is just one ground floor window in the 
rear elevation of the maisonettes and that this is a small window located on the other side of a 
fence.

(35) The building, at a distance of around 20 metres from the rear elevation of No.31 Devon 
Road, should not cause overbearing or loss of light for this or the surrounding properties in my 
view. The ridge height on the boundary with No.33 Devon Road is quite high however it is 
located towards the rear section of their garden. The unfinished breeze block flank wall could 
be improved and if members are minded to approve the application, I recommend a condition 



that details of external materials are submitted to the Council and are implemented within 3 
months of the date of this permission. This is to ensure an acceptable visual impact on 
neighbours.

(36) There is an existing single storey building to the rear of No.33 Devon Road which has 
a depth in the region of 10 metres. It is located between the two flats Nos.33 and 33A Devon 
Road and therefore provides a degree of screening between these and the building the subject 
of this application.

(37) A private garden for the flats (Nos.31/31A) appears to be provided to the south of the 
detached garages and enclosed to the west by a close boarded fence. This space is well 
shielded from the building and the privacy it is currently afforded should not be affected by the 
proposal.

(38) I give material weight to the fact that a similar building could be erected on site under 
the extant permission (DA/16/00850/FUL). The building design now proposed will not have any 
greater material impact on visual or residential amenities, in my opinion, and I consider that the 
relationship between the application site and its neighbours has been established through the 
previous permissions.

Changes to the site and surroundings

(39) Based on the site visit and photos taken around the time of the previous residential 
permission I am not aware of any changes in the conditions of the site or the surrounding area 
which would now render the current application inappropriate.

Green Belt 

(40) Part of the rear garden for the property is within the Green Belt.  There is no built 
development proposed within this area and it was established as part of the previous 
submission that this land had been separated from the wider open area some time ago. I 
consider that the application will not result in harm to the Green Belt in terms of loss of openness 
and I also note that this was established as acceptable in the previous permission. However, I 
would recommend a condition be imposed should Members be minded to approve planning 
permission removing permitted development rights for the extensions to the property and for 
buildings to be erected in the curtilage of the property to ensure that there is no harm to the 
Green Belt.  Such a condition also responds to the nature of this development to the rear of 
existing properties and its relationship to them. 

Other issues 

(41) The use which was approved prior to the residential permission was industrial but the 
site is not within an area which has been identified for employment and as such the use of the 
land as residential does not represent a significant loss of accommodation in terms of 
employment provision. I consider that a residential use is better suited to this environment which 
is predominantly residential in nature. The use as a dwelling has also been established under 
the 2016 permission. 

(42) The dwelling exceeds the requirements of the Nationally Described Space Standards 
and a good sized rear garden has been provided as external amenity space.

FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(43) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.



(44) If the property is considered to be CIL liable then the following are the 'financial benefits' 
which I am aware of:

(45) Community Infrastructure Levy:  CIL is charged on the net increase in floorspace of the 
proposed development and in this case a chargeable area of 114.74sqm square metres results 
in a CIL liability of £26,692.65, which subject to indexation will be paid on implementation. As 
Members are aware the CIL money achieved from developments goes into a pot and must be 
used to fund infrastructure to support development in the area, this includes new schools and 
strategic junction improvements where the money will be paid to the authorities responsible for 
providing these services.  In addition 15 % of the CIL payment will be passed to Sutton-at-Hone 
Parish Council in accordance with CIL Regulations. I consider that this is a material 
consideration with regard to this proposal, as if the development were to commence, CIL 
monies received will assist in the delivery of  infrastructure projects that supports local 
development.

(46) New Homes Bonus: is a grant paid by central government to local councils to reflect 
and incentivise housing growth in their areas. It is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new homes. Allocations are set by Government each year and so the amount 
of New Homes Bonus is not fixed for this proposal.  I consider this is not a material consideration 
with regard to the determination of the planning application.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(47) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(48) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(49) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017) the proposal is not Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. It is not 
considered to require a screening opinion.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(50) I have considered the application in light of current planning policy and the extant 
permissions which could at any time be completed on site. I consider that the current proposal 
is acceptable and will not result in material harm to neighbour amenity, visual amenities or harm 
to the Green Belt.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

01 In pursuance of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: 0114.1b Proposed block, floor and elevation plans and 0114.2 location plan 
(both received 27.02.2019)



02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 No construction work shall take place on the site outside the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays with no working on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

03 To protect the amenities of the residents of nearby dwellings in accordance with Policies 
DP5 and DP20 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

04 If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously been 
identified, then no further development shall be carried out (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) until the developer has submitted and received 
approval of an assessment of this unsuspected contamination together with an 
appropriate remediation scheme that is implemented as approved.

04 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters

05 Within 3 months the date of this permission, details of all materials to be used externally 
shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. Within 2 months 
of the date of the approved details of materials from the Local Planning Authority, the 
building shall be finished in accordance with the submitted details.

05 In the interests of neighbour and visual amenity in accordance with policy DP5 and DP7 
of the adopted local plan.

06 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a landscaping scheme 
including both hard and soft landscaping and all boundary enclosures and a programme 
for its management, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
and shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the first unit (unless this falls outside 
of the planting season in which case it shall be implemented at the first opportunity during 
the following planting season, between October and March inclusive).  Such landscaping 
shall thereafter be maintained for a period of five years.  Any trees, shrubs or grassed 
areas which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within this 
period shall be replaced within the next planting season with plants of similar species 
and size to that approved.

06 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

07 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any other amending, revoking and re-enacting 
that Order), no windows or similar openings shall be constructed in the front roof slope 
of the building other than as hereby approved, without the prior written consent of the 
Local Planning Authority.

07 To enable the Local Planning Authority to regulate and control any such further 
development in the interests of amenity and privacy of the adjoining property in 
accordance with Policies DP2 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

08 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved the windows serving the dormer 
and hallway in the front (southern) elevation(s) of the building shall be obscure glazed 
with a minimum obscurity level of 3 as referred to in the Pilkington Texture Glass Range 
leaflet, or nearest equivalent as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Such glazing shall be incapable of being opened with the exception of any top hung fan 
lights, and shall subsequently be maintained as such at all times.



08 To safeguard the privacy of adjoining residents in accordance with Policies DP2 and DP5 
of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

09 Notwithstanding the provisions of classes A, B and E of Part 1 Schedule 2 of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) no extensions, alterations or other form of 
enlargement, nor erection of outbuildings or storage tanks, shall take place on site 
without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

09 To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider any further development on its merits, 
having regard to the amount of development already permitted on the site in 
consideration of the site's Green Belt context and in accordance with Policy CS13 of the 
Core Strategy and Policy DP22 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan

10 The 2 car parking spaces, turning areas and means of access shown on the approved 
plans shall be provided prior to occupation of the building(s) hereby approved and kept 
available for such use at all times and no development, whether permitted by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 1995 or not, shall 
be carried out on that area of land or to preclude vehicular access thereto.

10 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2 and DP4 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES

01 The applicant is advised to take note of the following advice from the Environment 
Agency:

We would strongly advise that occupants register with the Environment Agency’s ‘Flood 
Line’ service. This can be done by calling 0345 988 1188 to register. 
We strongly recommend that you consider flood resistant and resilience design 
techniques for the development. Further information on flood resilience can be found on 
the following link http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/br/flood_performance.pdf.”



20.6m

20.4m

20.5m

Pond

BM 21.98m

Surgery

U
nd

Path

W
ATER

 M
ILL

AXTANE CLOSE
WAY

1 to 10

7

41
11

19

44
43

13

23

24

14

29

30

22

15

2

12

22a

15
a

33

31

17
a

53

27

40 3916

4

17

1

19

30

Pond

12

11

WATER MILL

11

43

Su
rg

er
y

41

22

15

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/00949/COU

Address : Willow Court 31B Devon Road Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9AA 

Date: 3 April 2019 Scale: Not to Scale





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
18th April 2019

TREE PRESERVATION ORDER NO: 3 2018 – 10 INDIVIDUAL TREES 
AND 5 GROUPS OF TREES – FRED MEAD, SOUTHFLEET, KENT DA13 
9PQ

WARD:  Longfield, New Barn and Southfleet

1.  Summary

To seek authority to confirm a Tree Preservation Order without 
modifications.

2.  RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That for the reason detailed in the report, Tree Preservation Order 
No. 3 2018, Fred Mead, Southfleet, Kent DA13 9PQ be confirmed 
without modification.

3.  Background and discussion

3.1 Planning permission was granted (04/00040/FUL) for a small 
development of eight properties on land, part of Hook Place Farm, to 
the south of Hook Green Road, Southfleet.  The development is 
known as ‘Fred Mead’.  The trees in question are located within and 
around this new development as well as land to the south of this 
development within Hook Place Farm and within the grounds of Hook 
Place Farmhouse – a Grade II listed building.  The majority of the 
trees lie within the Hook Green Conservation Area but the southern-
most trees lie outside of the Conservation Area. 

3.2 Southfleet Parish Council has requested that the trees in this area be 
considered for protection under a Tree Preservation Order.  

3.3 A provisional tree preservation order (TPO) was originally made 
under TPO No. 2 2018 and covered six individual trees and five 
groups of trees.

3.4 One resident requested that the boundary of group 3 was slightly 
amended so that it did not cover their house and garden, they also 
said they thought T4 was a different species to that described in the 
order.  After discussing with them their concerns they accepted that 
the garden should remain within the group as some of the trees were 
located here but the extent of group 5 should be amended to exclude 
the house.  The Council’s Tree Consultant re-visited the site to 
confirm that the species of T4 is correct.

3.5 A further objection was made on behalf of Hook Place Farm setting 
out three main areas of concern.  1) Deficiencies in the content of the 
notice in accordance with regulation 3; 2) Deficiencies in the service 
of notice in accordance with regulation 5; and 3) raised objection to 
the TPO setting out their reasons for objecting.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
18th April 2019

3.6 In respect of their first point they advised under Regulation 3(1)(b) 
that the number of trees within a group need to be specified not just 
the species and in respect of their second point they advised that the 
notice was incorrectly served as insufficient time for making 
objections and representations was given in accordance with Reg. 
5(2)(c).  At least 28 days should be given but only 25 days was shown 
in the notice.

3.7 As a result of these two points and the revised boundary for Group 5 
it was decided that the best way forward would be to withdraw TPO 
No. 2 and make a new provisional TPO – TPO No. 3 2018.  This 
current TPO is the subject of this report. 

3.8 TPO No. 3 2018 was made on 3 December 2018 and included 4 
additional trees, which the Council’s Tree Consultant felt should be 
included as a result of his further visit to clarify the species of T4.

3.9 The individual trees included in the new TPO are as follows:

T1 – Walnut;
T2 – Cedar;
T3 - Variegated Maple;
T4 – Maple;
T5 – Cork Oak;
T6 – Deodar Cedar;
T7 – Box Elder;
T8 – Robinia;
T9- Sycamore; and
T10 – Oak

3.10 Five groups of trees are also include which are made up of a number 
of Lime, Cherry, Box Elder, Yew, Tortuous Willow, Weeping Willow, 
Hornbeam, Maple, Apple, Pine, Birch, Ash, Beech; Sycamore, Pear, 
Hawthorn and Purple Plum trees.  The number of the trees within 
each ground have also been recorded. 

4. Response from consultation

4.1 Consultations were undertaken regarding the TPO and letters were 
delivered to Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8 and 9 Fred Mead as well as Hook 
Place Farm Ltd; and North Kent Farms Ltd.  No. 5 Fred Mead was 
originally not notified of the TPO but none of the trees directly affected 
their property.  However, for the sake of completeness they were 
notified of the TPO on 20 March 2019 and asked that if they had any 
comments or objections to make, that they submit them in writing on 
or before 17 April 2019.  Any such objections received will be reported 
either in the update to the meeting or reported verbally.

4.2 In response to the consultation the agent acting for Hook Place Farm 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
18th April 2019

re-iterated their original objections that none of the trees can be 
considered as category A trees in accordance with BS5837; at best, 
trees are of moderate quality (category B) and as such their amenity 
value is limited to the extent that they do not require specific 
protection; the category B trees are dispersed amongst lower quality 
specimens and so reduce the group value and they would have 
sufficient protection as trees within a Conservation Area; even if some 
individual trees are worthy of protection the inclusion of large 
numbers of low quality specimens suggests that it is not expedient in 
the interests of visual amenity to put a TPO on groups of trees.

4.3 They further comment that the tree/groups of trees are not visible 
from a public place and seen by the general public and as such the 
TPO can only be justified in exceptional circumstances.  They do not 
consider that the trees are worthy on quality grounds of protection.  
Additional trees have been included which require additional 
consideration.

5. Consideration

5.1 It is the Secretary of State’s view that TPOs should be used to protect 
selected trees and woodlands if their removal would have a significant 
impact on the local environment and its enjoyment by the public.  
Local planning authorities should be able to show that a reasonable 
degree of public benefit would accrue before TPOs are made or 
confirmed.  Guidance confirms that the trees should be visible from a 
public place; the benefit may be present or future and the trees should 
have an intrinsic beauty or contribute to the landscape. 

5.2 In this case, there are a number of individual trees and groups of trees 
of considerable size and maturity.  The trees, individually and 
collectively add to the rural nature of the area breaking up the 
harshness of the residential development and enhance the 
appearance of the development.

5.3 The Conservation Area covers the northern part of the site but most 
of the trees within Group 4, all of the trees within Group 3, some trees 
within Group 5 and the southern half of Group 2 all lay outside of the 
Conservation Area and as such would not be afforded any protection 
if this TPO is not confirmed.

5.4 Special regard must be had to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character of or appearance of the Conservation Area.  
Whilst the Conservation Area does provide some protection to the 
trees within it, this only allows the Local Planning Authority 6 weeks 
to consider whether the tree is worthy of a TPO.  This limits 
opportunities to consider the group value of a tree and individual trees 
that might be of a lower quality but would have contributed to a group 
of trees can be lost in this way.  If individual trees are worth of 
protection in their own right, as is the case here, the making of a TPO 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
18th April 2019

for them is justified, regardless of their location within a Conservation 
Area.  I would therefore suggest, that in this instance, relying on the 
protection offered to the trees by the Conservation Area is not 
sufficient and it is expedient to make a TPO now to preserve the level 
of tree coverage in the area.  

5.5 It is not true to say that the trees are not visible from public places as 
they are clearly visible from within the Fred Mead development itself.  
Some are visible from Hook Green Road immediately to the north, 
some from Barker Fields - another relatively new residential 
development to the east of Fred Mead and some are visible from 
further west in Hook Green Road across the fields.  The groups of 
trees, G4 and G2 in particular, form a green buffer to the residential 
development at Fred Mead.

5.6 To the south and west of the Feed Mead development is open farm 
land with little or no tree cover.  To the east of Barker Fields there is 
open farm land and to the north past the residential properties is more 
open farm land.  I would therefore suggest that the retention of tree 
cover in this area is of paramount importance to enhance the visual 
appearance of the area, especially given that it is a Conservation 
Area.

5.7 As stated above, in my opinion, virtually all of the trees are visible 
individually or as part of a group providing a backdrop from public 
places and providing a visual amenity benefit to the area.  Whilst 
amenity is not defined in law it is accepted that trees will bring a 
reasonable degree of public benefit now or in the future.

5.8 The Council’s Tree Consultant also visited the area to provide 
arboricultural advice on the appropriateness of placing a TPO on 
these trees, both individually and within groups.  He has assessed 
the trees as falling generally within category B with some category C 
trees.  His overall score for the trees, using the TEMPO (Tree 
Evaluation Method for Preservation Orders) is 15 which falls in the 
category that a ‘TPO is defensible’.

5.9 In respect of the groups it is accepted that some individual trees are 
more worthy of protection than others but as groups they combine to 
make a group of trees that are worthy of protection.  The loss of any 
of the trees would have a negative visual impact on the group and 
therefore the appearance of the area.

5.10 The trees within the Fred Mead development have come under 
pressure for removal or for works to them in recent years as the 
properties have become occupied and issues of tree sap on cars and 
falling debris from the trees have been reported.  Such issues do not 
often justify the removal or works to the trees and a TPO would 
ensure that the protection of these individual trees is absolutely clear 
to residents of this development.  The trees within Hook Place Farm 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
18th April 2019

may come under pressure from future development proposals and 
the Council is aware of potential plans in this respect.  This makes 
the need for the confirmation of this TPO even more important.  

6. Conclusions

6.1 A TPO is an appropriate way of ensuring that any works to the 
protected trees are monitored by the Council, to allow for a 
professional and objective opinion on the works requested and to 
ensure that any work undertaken to a tree is acceptable from an 
arboricultural point of view.  This can also ensure that there would be 
no detrimental impact on the long term health of the tree or its visual 
amenity value, taking into account any health and safety issues.  

6.2 Without the protection of the TPO some of the trees could be removed 
at any time but others would still benefit from protection by virtue of 
the Conservation Area.  However, as stated above, before works to 
a tree in a Conservation Area can be undertaken there is a 
requirement to make an application to give the Local Planning 
Authority the opportunity to consider whether the tree(s) are worthy 
of protection.  By making a TPO now on all the above-mentioned 
trees it removes any uncertainty and I am therefore of the opinion that 
the TPO should be confirmed for the wider public benefit. 

6.3 In view of the above report I recommend that the TPO is confirmed 
without modification.

7. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

7.1 Not applicable. 

8. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or 

constraints

9. Appendices

9.1 Appendix 1 – TPO Plan.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Docume
nts 
consulte
d

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
18th April 2019

Applicati
on File

19 March 
2019

TPO 
No. 

Barbara Lidster
01322 343627

Development 
Management
Regeneration

N/A























DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DELEGATED LIST
OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

Excluding Ebbsfleet UDC Applications

Date Report Compiled: 3-Apr-2019
Period for Report:  31/01/2019 to 03/04/2019

Plan Ref 19/00052/TPO Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location 3 Birchwood Drive Wilmington Kent DA2 7NE 
Proposal Application to fell 1 No. Ash tree (T10), Thin by 20%: 1 No. Ash tree (T11) and reduce timber back to 

approx. 7m from 12m of 1 No. double stem Sweet Chestnut tree (T18) subject to tree Preservation 
Order No.14 1981

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Split decision; Unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00043/TPO Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location 12 Chalet Close Bexley Kent DA5 2EY 
Proposal Application to: T1. Oak - reduce and reshape complete tree by approximately 2m from height and 

spread. Current estimated height is 16m tall and radius 8m. Leaving at approximately 14m tall and 6m 
radius. 
T2. Oak - reduce and reshape complete tree by approximately 2m from height and spread. 
Current estimated height is 17m tall and radius 9m. Leaving at approximately 15m tall and 7m radius. 
T3. Oak - Fell
All subject to Tree Preservation order No.5 1960

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Split decision; unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00355/CPO Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location Wilmington Grammar School For Girls Parsons Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7BB 
Proposal Consultation on an application for details of materials (Condition 3), landscaping (Condition 4), 

drainage/SUDS (Condition 17) and construction management strategy (Condition 23) pursuant to 
planning permission DA/18/0094

Ward Wilmington
Decision No Objection
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 19/00237/CPO Date Issued 05/03/2019
Location Darenth Primary School Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA2 8DH 
Proposal Consultation on an application for new single storey teaching block formed of 3 separate modular 

buildings accommodating 3 classrooms, library, wcs and circulation space. The 3 buildings are to be 
connected by a new canopy joining the existing canopy. New soft play areas to the rear of 2 buildings 
and additional hard play area are to be laid. A new timber frame workshop (14m2) is to be situated to the
north of the existing hard play. The works are in relation to planning application DA/18/569 
(KCC/DA/0066/2018); this planning application seeks to amend the design and layout of the classroom 
block - KCC APPROVED 29.03.2019

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision No Objection
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Page 1 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00170/EDCCON Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location Castle Hill Local Centre Castle Hill Eastern Quarry Watling Street Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for installation of an external plant room for the use of a convenience 

store within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Objection
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 19/00199/EDCCON Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location Northfleet West Sub Station Southfleet Road Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Re-Consultation on submission of Reserved Matters of siting, design, external appearance and 

landscaping, pursuant to Conditions 2, 19, 26, 36 and 43 of outline planning permission EDC/16/0045 
for Phase 2c development of 116 residential units including details of streets, buildings and structures, 
materials, open space, car parking, noise and drainage within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Objection
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00082/OBB Date Issued 19/02/2019
Location Little Acres Longfield Avenue Gravesend Kent DA3 7LA 
Proposal Consultation on an outline application with all matters reserved for the demolition of buildings within the 

site, including Little Acres, and erection of four dwellings, with associated parking, access, and gardens.
Change of use of the northern part of the existing curtilage, new access to be created to stable building 
to the north, removal of hardstanding, enlargement of paddock and landscaping across the site within 
Gravesham Borough Council

Ward Outside Borough Boundary
Decision Objection; Unidentified housing development within the rural area
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 19/00074/TPO Date Issued 22/02/2019
Location 11 Garrow Longfield Kent DA3 7JN 
Proposal Application to reduce higher northern canopy by 2 metres being two selective branches only, reduce 

branches extending over the Leyland hedge to the west by 1 metre. crown lift canopy by the removal of 
a small group of branches to the south west growing over the Leyland hedge, crown thin remaining 
canopy by no more than 15% and remove major deadwood of 1 No. Oak tree subject to Tree 
Preservation Order No.1 1988

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00190/TPO Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 3 St Pauls Close Swanscombe Kent DA10 0BA 
Proposal Application to reduce crown and pollard back to previous points of 1 No. Lime tree subject to Tree 

Preservation Order No.3 1991

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 2 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00134/TPO Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location Solitaire Main Road Longfield Kent DA3 7PW
Proposal Application to reduce crown by 1.5m-2m of 1 No. Beech (Fagus) Tree in front garden subject to Tree 

Preservation Order No.11 1991

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00073/TPO Date Issued 03/04/2019
Location Maypole County Primary School Franklin Road Dartford Kent DA2 7UZ 
Proposal Application to fell 1 No. Poplar (triple stem) tree adjacent to school subject to Tree Preservation Order 

No.9 1995

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 19/00125/TPO Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 9 Garrow Longfield Kent DA3 7JN 
Proposal Application to raise the crown to 5 metres and reduce the crown by 30% of 1 No. Silver Birch tree 

subject to Tree Preservation Order No.1 1988

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00219/TPO Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location 12 Manor Gate Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7EW 
Proposal Application to reduce and reshape crown size back to good selective growth by no more than 1.5m 

radius, remove all dead wood, decayed wood, rubbing and crossing branches of 1 No. Silver Birch Tree
subject to Tree Preservation Order No.8 2006

Ward Wilmington
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00239/TDA Date Issued 02/04/2019
Location Outside Dartford Heath Retail Park Heath Lane Dartford Kent  
Proposal Application of determination pursuant to Part 16 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the 
proposed TEF 17.5m high Hutchinson Elara Dual Stack Streetpole on new root foundation and 
associated works

Ward Princes
Decision Prior Approval required and Granted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00196/AGR Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Darenth Court Farm Darenth Hill Darenth Kent DA2 7QY 
Proposal Application under Schedule 2 part 6 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 to determine whether prior approval is required for erection of an 
agricultural building (with associated excavation works) and extension of private way

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Prior Approval not Required
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Page 3 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01573/OUT Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location Former Greenhithe Clinic Knockhall Chase Greenhithe Kent DA9 9EN 
Proposal Outline application (with some matters reserved) for a maximum of 5 dwellings (consideration of access

only)

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of outline permission
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 19/00364/OBB Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 31 Baldwyns Park Bexley Kent DA5 2BE 
Proposal Consultation on an application for part one/part two storey side and rear extension and provision of 

window in existing flank elevation within Bexley London Borough

Ward Outside Borough Boundary
Decision No Objection
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 19/00397/OBB Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location 11 Baldwyns Park Bexley Kent DA5 2BE 
Proposal Consultation on an application for part one, part two storey rear extension and alterations to the roofline 

within Bexley London Borough

Ward Outside Borough Boundary
Decision No Objection
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 19/00025/TRCON Date Issued 27/02/2019
Location St James Place Dartford Kent DA1 2ED 
Proposal Notification to - Yew (T2) - Remove epicormic growth on main trunk, up to 3 metres. Prune back 

eastern aspect of crown by up to 1.5 metres, prune back growth overhanging path on southern aspect 
by 1 metre.
Sycamore (T3) - Clean up pruning cuts via target pruning.
3 No. small Sycamores (G1) - Fell down to ground level 2 No. Sycamores and treat stumps to prevent 
regrowth. Leave remaining Sycamore. All within Dartford conservation Area

Ward Town
Decision No Objection
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 19/00067/LDC Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Tudor Lodge  New Barn Road Southfleet DA3 7LT
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a detached barn/stable to the 

rear of the garden to stable pony and associated tack and feed

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Permission Required; Not permitted development, fails to meet class E of the GPDO
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00212/LDC Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location 13 Watchgate Darenth Kent DA2 7JZ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a detached outbuilding to 

provide home office/gym/storage

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Permission Required; Not permitted development, fails to meet class E of the GPDO
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 4 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00050/LDC Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location 63 Red Lodge Road Bexley Kent DA5 2JP 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed alterations to roof from hip end to gable 

end for provision of a dormer window in rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection 
with providing additional rooms in the roof space and erection of a single storey rear extension

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Permission Required; Single storey rear extension exceeds 3m in depth; roof alterations exceed 50 cubic 

metres; first floor side elevation window not obscure glazed and incapable of being opened unless it’s 
above 1.7m from floor level.

Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01154/FUL Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location 95 Main Road Longfield Kent DA3 7PQ
Proposal Provision of a vehicle access onto B260
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00891/FUL Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location 28 Sandringham Drive Dartford Kent DA2 7WB 
Proposal Erection of a detached shed incorporating removal of two existing sheds (retrospective application)
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/00893/FUL Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location The Nursery Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA2 8DP 
Proposal Erection of a front boundary wall (eastern section between points B and C on the submitted plans) in 

replacement of a 1.8m high close boarded fence (retrospective application)

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00013/FUL Date Issued 28/02/2019
Location 6 Orchard Terrace Cotton Lane Stone Kent DA9 9AX 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00038/FUL Date Issued 06/03/2019
Location 1 Landale Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 2QB 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension, conversion of existing integral garage into habitable room with

associated alterations to front elevation and permeable block paving to front driveway

Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 5 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01618/FUL Date Issued 06/02/2019
Location 93 Brent Lane Dartford Kent DA1 1QT 
Proposal Erection of a two storey rear extension with 2 No. dormer windows in the sides of the roof slope to 

provide additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01066/FUL Date Issued 14/03/2019
Location Plots 1-4 Greenwood Park Darenth Road Dartford Kent DA1 1LY 
Proposal Amendments to plots 1-4 to include minor adjustment to parking bays and planting areas at front of 

Plots 1 to 4, boundary line to roadside of Plots 1 and 3 to be relocated by 0.3m, creation of closed 
entrance way in form of brick piers and sliding gates, insertion of WC window (obscure glaze) to the 
side elevation at ground floor level to Plots 1 to 4, gable on front elevation to Plots 2 and 3 to be render 
and timber framed to replace tile hanging and provision of "Greenwood Park" sign, addition of 2 No. 
roof lights in front and rear elevations for loft space of Plots 1-4 and internal layout changes at second 
floor level to include a WC and store area to plots 1-4 (revisions to reserved matters approval 
DA/12/00731/REM following outline consent DA/10/01616/OUT)

Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01127/FUL Date Issued 18/02/2019
Location Tudor Court Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA1 1QF 
Proposal Demolition of existing garage, infilling of swimming pool and erection of a detached four bedroom 

dwelling with associated car parking spaces

Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00096/FUL Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location 4 Sterndale Road Dartford Kent DA1 1QR 
Proposal Conversion of integral garage to habitable room with associated alterations to front elevation and 

extension of hard standing at front of property

Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01639/FUL Date Issued 07/02/2019
Location 6 Rectory Meadow Southfleet Kent DA13 9NY 
Proposal Erection of a detached outbuilding
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00016/FUL Date Issued 20/02/2019
Location 12 Browning Road Dartford Kent DA1 5ET 
Proposal Demolition of existing outbuilding and erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension
Ward Joyce Green
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 6 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01636/FUL Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location 8 Allendale Close Dartford Kent DA2 6JP 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey side/rear extension with integral garage
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00111/FUL Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location 23 Heathclose Road Dartford Kent DA1 2PU 
Proposal Demolition of existing rear conservatory and part rear structure and erection of single storey rear 

extension

Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01540/FUL Date Issued 19/02/2019
Location 143 Burnham Road Dartford Kent DA1 5AZ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension (incorporating demolition of existing rear conservatory) and 

provision of a dormer window with Juliette balcony in rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation  
and changes to front porch

Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00897/FUL Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location 26 Sandringham Drive Dartford Kent DA2 7WB 
Proposal Erection of a detached shed incorporating removal of two existing sheds (retrospective application)
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01256/FUL Date Issued 27/02/2019
Location 11 Heathwood Walk Bexley Kent DA5 2BP 
Proposal Provision of 2 No. air conditioning units to the side elevation and provision of wooden casing 

surrounding the units (retrospective application)

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01272/FUL Date Issued 06/02/2019
Location Station House Station Road Southfleet Kent DA13 9PA 
Proposal Provision of 1.8m high/1.1m high brick walls around existing swimming pool and erection of plant room

(part retrospective)

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Page 7 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01635/FUL Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location 79 Birchwood Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7HQ 
Proposal Provision of first floor balcony on rear elevation and associated change of window to door 

(retrospective application)

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00054/ADV Date Issued 08/03/2019
Location Plot 2 And 3B Fawkes Avenue Questor Wilmington Kent  
Proposal Display of 3 No. non illuminated fascia signed for unit identification numbers
Ward Princes
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 19/00177/ADV Date Issued 07/03/2019
Location Bus Shelter South Side Home Gardens Dartford Kent  
Proposal Display of double sided digital internally illuminated advertising panels on bus shelter
Ward Town
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00178/ADV Date Issued 07/03/2019
Location Bus Shelter North Side Home Gardens Dartford Kent  
Proposal Display of double sided digital internally illuminated advertising panels on bus shelter
Ward Town
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00032/ADV Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location The Co-Operative Group 29 - 35 High Street Swanscombe Kent DA10 0AG 
Proposal Display of 1 No. internally illuminated fascia (only the co-op logo illuminates), 3 No. non illuminated 

wall mounted flat aluminium panels 1 No. non illuminated post office panel (fitted to main fascia)

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00127/ADV Date Issued 07/03/2019
Location Bus Shelter Instone Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Display of double sided digital internally illuminated advertising panels on bus shelter
Ward Town
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 8 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00128/ADV Date Issued 07/03/2019
Location Bus Shelter Hythe Street Rear Of 4 Prospect Place Dartford Kent  
Proposal Display of double sided digital internally illuminated advertising panels on bus shelter
Ward Town
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00129/ADV Date Issued 07/03/2019
Location Bus Shelter North Side Home Gardens Dartford Kent  
Proposal Display of double sided digital internally illuminated advertising panels on bus shelter
Ward Town
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 17/01431/ADV Date Issued 20/03/2019
Location 5A Prospect Place Dartford Kent DA1 1DY 
Proposal Display of 3 internally illuminated fascia signs and 3 non-illuminated signs
Ward Town
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 19/00019/ADV Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location Unit 1 Rennie Drive Plot 2 The Bridge Dartford Kent DA1 5FD 
Proposal Display of various illuminated and non-illuminated external car dealership and forecourt signs
Ward Littlebrook
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00113/ADV Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Baynes House 5A Market Street Dartford Kent DA1 1DB 
Proposal Display of 1 No. externally illuminated fascia sign and signage/company branding to shopfront and first 

floor windows

Ward Town
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00103/ADV Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location 447 Princes Road Dartford Kent DA1 1RB 
Proposal Display of 1 internally illuminated fascia sign
Ward Brent
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00044/ADV Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location Europa Albion Road Dartford Kent DA1 5PZ 
Proposal Display of 4 No. internally illuminated fascia signs
Ward Littlebrook
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Steven Bell

Page 9 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01167/LDC Date Issued 06/02/2019
Location Castle Farm Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA2 8DX 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for the existing use of land as a gypsy caravan site 

without complying with the condition in paragraph 14 of appeal decision T/APP/T2215/A/84/015880/P3 
dated 14 November 1984 that limits the number of touring caravans to three

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Certificate Granted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01064/VCON Date Issued 18/03/2019
Location Plot 6 Greenwood Park Darenth Road Dartford Kent DA1 1LY 
Proposal Application for variation of condition 11 (approved plans) of planning permission DA/14/00438/VCON 

in respect of Plot 6 to allow the gable on the front elevation to be render and timber framed rather than 
tile-hanging, insertion of a WC window (obscure glazed) to the side elevation at ground floor level, two 
parking spaces to be located to the right of the turning head and a grassed area proposed where the 
original parking spaces were intended

Ward Brent
Decision Application permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 17/01759/VCON Date Issued 25/03/2019
Location 33 Essex Road Dartford Kent DA1 2AU 
Proposal Application for variation of condition 2 (approved drawings) of planning permission DA/16/00840/FUL 

in respect of addition of window in side elevation at first floor level

Ward Town
Decision Application permitted
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 17/01697/VCON Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Swyres Farm  Green Street Green Road Darenth DA2 7JD
Proposal Erection of a storage building, polytunnels and glasshouses, associated internal road and turning space 

and on site parking to serve use of site as a wholesale nursery incorporating demolition of existing 
outbuildings (incorporating variation of condition 2 (approved drawings) of planning permission 
DA/16/01331/VCON to amend the external appearance of the main storage building and doors for 
loading/unloading in the south west elevation of the main storage building; amend height and external 
appearance of the 'glass house'; alter the size and location of the mezzanine level inside the main storage 
building; relocate wash bins and provide associated additional hard surface at the side and rear of 
building).

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 19/00095/VCON Date Issued 20/03/2019
Location 447 Princes Road Dartford Kent DA1 1RB 
Proposal Application for variation of condition 3 of planning permission DA/12/00091/COU in respect of 

changing opening hours from 0900 to 1800 Mon-Sat to 0600 to 2300 Mon-Sun

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Variation of Condition - Extended opening hours not harmful to highway or neighbouring 

residents
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 10 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01565/LBC Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Dartford Grammar School For Boys West Hill Dartford Kent DA1 2HW 
Proposal Application for Listed Building Consent for provision of air raid shelter entrances and playground 

resurfacing

Ward West Hill
Decision Consent for LB
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 17/01634/LBC Date Issued 20/03/2019
Location Blue House Sandy Lane Bean Kent DA2 8AE 
Proposal Application for Listed Building Consent for provision of an external flue to route gas pipe feed to boiler 

(retrospective)

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Consent for LB
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 19/00080/NONMAT Date Issued 15/02/2019
Location 5 Bradbrook Drive Longfield Kent DA3 7BF 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment to condition 3 following grant of planning permission 

DA/18/01427/FUL in respect of adding 'unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority'

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00075/NONMAT Date Issued 07/02/2019
Location Old Barn Nurstead Lane Longfield Kent DA3 7AN 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/18/00717/FUL in 

respect of proposed pitched roof reduced to smaller pitched roof to front and flat roof to rear and 
addition of roof lanterns

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00463/NONMAT Date Issued 03/04/2019
Location Neptune Slipway Pier Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9NS
Proposal Application for non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/15/01660/VCON in 

respect of variation of condition 4 of planning permission DA/15/01660/VCON regarding verification 
report, to allow it to be submitted and approved prior to first occupation of the dwelling (instead of prior
to commencement of works)

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Sue Wright

Page 11 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00021/NONMAT Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location 55 Elm Road Dartford Kent DA1 2RT 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/18/01159/FUL in 

respect of removal of sliding folding doors to rear extension a replace with 2 No. windows, add door to 
attached side elevation of rear extension and reduce size of roof windows to rear extension

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00271/NONMAT Date Issued 21/03/2019
Location Site At Junction Of King Edward Avenue West Hill Dartford Kent  
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/16/00499/FUL in 

respect of revisions to layout which impact on the window positions and therefore the elevational 
treatment

Ward West Hill
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00207/NONMAT Date Issued 22/02/2019
Location Adjacent 25 Beech Road Dartford Kent DA1 2RG 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/16/02020/FUL in 

respect to alterations to windows and doors

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00162/NONMAT Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location Unit 1 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5FD 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/17/01591/REM in 

respect of change to Service Lobby elevations, cladding and fenestration on south elevation, revised roof
to valet building, removal of one Smart Repair Unit, alterations to parking layout, alterations to ground 
floor service lobby layout, alterations to first floor office layout, revised finish to main roof, revised 
fence detail and revised finish to facades

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00204/NONMAT Date Issued 05/03/2019
Location Neptune Slipway Pier Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9NS 
Proposal Application for non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/15/01660/VCON in 

respect of a change from existing condition 11 wording to the following:
'Details and samples of all materials including the types of glazing proposed and surface materials to be 
used externally shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
any construction above ground level in relation to the building and laying of surface materials in relation 
to external surface treatment, and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details'

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Sue Wright

Page 12 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00298/NONMAT Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location 165 Trevithick Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5LL 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/18/00824/FUL in 

respect of reduction in size of flank windows

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00312/NONMAT Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location 80 Main Road Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9EU 
Proposal Application for non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/18/00045/FUL in 

respect of vehicle crossover now central, opening up front of driveway by removal of bushes and 
extension of gully

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Refusal of non-material amendments; Increased width of vehicular access onto a classified road required 

planning permission and therefore not a non-material amendment
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 17/01982/NONMAT Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Nevada Hook Green Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7AJ 
Proposal Application for a non material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/17/01090/FUL in 

respect of removal of approved pitched roof and change to flat roof

Ward Wilmington
Decision Refusal of non-material amendments; Material changes therefore the application as a whole is considered 

to be unacceptable as a non-material amendment
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 19/00051/CDNA Date Issued 12/02/2019
Location Zone B Prologis Park Shield Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to reptile mitigation strategy pursuant to condition 3 of planning 

permission DA/16/01022/REM for erection of a Use Class B8 unit with associated parking and service 
yard.

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00143/CDNA Date Issued 25/03/2019
Location Neptune Slipway Pier Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9NS 
Proposal Submission of details relating to contaminated land (condition 3) and foundation designs (condition 5) 

pursuant to planning permission DA/15/01660/VCON for erection of a detached 4 bedroom house with 
associated parking involving demolition of existing buildings on the site

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/01626/CDNA Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to ground levels pursuant to condition 7 of planning permission 

DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with associated 
parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 13 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01627/CDNA Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to building regulations M4 compliance pursuant to condition 9 of planning 

permission DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with 
associated parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01628/CDNA Date Issued 25/03/2019
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to boundary fencing pursuant to condition 13 of planning permission 

DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with associated 
parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01629/CDNA Date Issued 25/03/2019
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to landscaping pursuant to condition 15 of planning permission 

DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with associated 
parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01630/CDNA Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to storage and collection of waste pursuant to condition 16 of planning 

permission DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with 
associated parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00144/CDNA Date Issued 05/03/2019
Location Neptune Slipway Pier Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9NS 
Proposal Submission of details relating to ground anchors pursuant to condition 7 of planning permission 

DA/15/01660/VCON for erection of a detached 4 bedroom house with associated parking involving 
demolition of existing buildings on the site

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Page 14 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00147/CDNA Date Issued 03/04/2019
Location Neptune Slipway Pier Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9NS 
Proposal Submission of details relating to noise, vibration and dust pursuant to condition 13 of planning 

permission DA/15/01660/VCON for erection of a detached 4 bedroom house with associated parking 
involving demolition of existing buildings on the site

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 19/00149/CDNA Date Issued 27/02/2019
Location Littlebrook Power Station Rennie Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5PT 
Proposal Submission of details relating to sustainable surface water drainage system pursuant to condition 10 of 

planning permission DA/18/00457/FUL for redevelopment of the Site to provide class B8 (storage and 
distribution) uses and ancillary class B1 uses with associated access, servicing, parking and landscaping 
and riverside enhancements.

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00064/CDNA Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location Unit 1  Rennie Drive Dartford DA1 5PR
Proposal Submission of details relating to travel plan pursuant to condition 17 of outline planning permission 

DA/15/01434/OUT for erection of building for car dealership premises (Sui Generis use) comprising 
showroom, workshop, MoT and ancillary facilities, external parking areas, altered and new vehicular 
access points, new drainage infrastructure and enhanced retained ecological habitat (all matters
reserved except means of access and landscaping).

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00152/CDNA Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location Littlebrook Power Station Rennie Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5PT 
Proposal Submission of details relating to operation and maintenance of drainage system pursuant to condition 20 

of planning permission DA/18/00457/FUL for redevelopment of the Site to provide class B8 (storage and
distribution) uses and ancillary class B1 uses with associated access, servicing, parking and landscaping
and riverside enhancements.

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00046/CDNA Date Issued 14/02/2019
Location Plot 3B Fawkes Avenue Questor Wilmington Kent  
Proposal Plot 3B-Part submission of details relating to sustainable surface water drainage system pursuant to 

condition 9 of planning permission DA/16/00190/FUL for revised Unit 1 car parking strategy only

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Page 15 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00356/CDNA Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Adj 115 Milton Road Swanscombe Kent DA10 0LS 
Proposal Submission of details relating to surface water drainage pursuant to condition 4 of planning permission 

DA/18/00246/FUL for demolition of existing garage and erection of a detached 4 bed dwelling house

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00221/CDNA Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location Site At Junction Of King Edward Avenue West Hill Dartford Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to piling/foundation designs pursuant to condition 10 of planning 

permission DA/16/00499/FUL for erection of a part three/part four storey building to provide a 75 
bedroom care home and ancillary external works

Ward West Hill
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/00481/CDNA Date Issued 20/03/2019
Location Adjacent 105 Hill House Road Dartford Kent DA2 6EX 
Proposal Submission of details relating to proposed land levels, visibility splays and retaining walls (condition 3) 

and external materials (condition 4) pursuant to planning permission DA/17/00323/FUL for erection of a 
three bedroom house with associated parking and landscaping

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01300/CDNA Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 29 Harrison Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7BA 
Proposal Submission of details of amendment to landscaping for 29 Harrison Avenue only pursuant to condition 

24 of planning permission DA/10/00398/OUT in respect of removal of lower branches to 1 No. Oak tree
in rear garden of 29 Harrison Avenue

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01621/CDNA Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to surface water and foul drainage pursuant to condition 6 of planning 

permission DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with 
associated parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 16 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01663/CDNA Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location Land Adj The Lodges (now Gantry Place) Cotton Lane Stone Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to construction method statement pursuant to condition 7 of planning 

permission DA/16/01553/VCON for erection of 16 No. 4 bedroom houses in four terraces and erection 
of a multi-use community building with access roads and ancillary works and use of land to the west as 
outdoor camping ground and recreational space for Scout Groups, Duke of Edinburgh activities and 
youth related activities (incorporating variation of condition 2 of application reference 15/01688/VCON 
to allow the addition of an electricity substation and revised parking layout for the multi-use hall).

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00158/CDNA Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Knockhall Academy  Eynsford Road Greenhithe DA9 9RF
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological works pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/18/00778/VCON for demolition of existing 6 No. reception and year 1 classrooms and adjoining 
toilet block and erection of 6 No. reception and year 1 classrooms with toilets

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 19/00243/CDNA Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to lighting design for biodiversity (condition 16) and bat and bird boxes 

(condition 18) pursuant to planning permission DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial 
buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with flexible permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated 
access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 19/00244/CDNA Date Issued 03/04/2019
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to external lighting pursuant to condition 17 of planning permission 

DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with flexible 
permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 17/01729/CDNA Date Issued 20/02/2019
Location Abbott Murex Site And Part Mill Pond Land To South Lower Hythe Street Dartford Kent DA1 1BN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 4 of planning permission 

DA/16/01601/FUL for erection of 6No blocks of between 3 and 8 storeys comprising a total of 403 
dwellings (164 x 1-bed, 234 x 2-bed and 5 x 3-bed) together with basement and surface parking for 449
vehicles and 696 bicycles; plus amenity space, play areas, public open space and associated 
infrastructure works.

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Page 17 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00250/CDNA Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to vehicle access to premises on Halcrow Avenue pursuant to condition 23

of planning permission DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 
4,211sqm with flexible permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements 
and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01045/CDNA Date Issued 14/02/2019
Location Land At Northern Gateway-eastern Parcel
Proposal Submission of details relating to bus shelters pursuant to condition 23 of outline planning permission 

DA/11/00295/OUT for redevelopment to provide a residential led mixed-use development comprising 
between 950-1050 residential units (Class C3), with between 2,500sq. m to 5,000 sq. m of flexible non-
residential uses comprising office uses (Class B1), retail, financial and professional services, restaurant, 
cafe and drinking establishment uses (Class A1/A2/A3/A4); and non-residential institutions/community 
and assembly and leisure uses (Class D1/D2); new landscaping, public and private open space; up 
to1,250 car parking spaces, cycle parking, access and other associated infrastructure works

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/01634/CDNA Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location Rear Of Merryweather Close Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details of amendment to landscaping for rear of Merryweather Close pursuant to 

condition 17 of planning permission DA/92/00530/OUT in respect of removal of maximum 50 self-sown
trees on embankment, crown lift to 3m from footpath level overhanging branches of 6 No. Sycamore 
trees within 1-2 metres of wall face, crown reduce and reshaped by 4m (from 10m to 6m) of 4 No. 
Sycamore trees to rear of 4 Merryweather Close

Ward Newtown
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01649/CDNA Date Issued 04/02/2019
Location Land Adj The Lodges (now Gantry Place) Cotton Lane Stone Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological watching brief pursuant to condition 3 of planning 

permission DA/16/01553/VCON for erection of 16 No. 4 bedroom houses in four terraces and erection 
of a multi-use community building with access roads and ancillary works and use of land to the west as 
outdoor camping ground and recreational space for Scout Groups, Duke of Edinburgh activities and 
youth related activities (incorporating variation of condition 2 of application reference 15/01688/VCON 
to allow the addition of an electricity substation and revised parking layout for the multi-use hall).

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00031/CDNA Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to contamination assessment pursuant to condition 5 of planning 

permission DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with 
associated parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 18 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00164/CDNA Date Issued 08/03/2019
Location Plot 3B Fawkes Avenue Questor Wilmington Kent  
Proposal Plot 3B Partial submission of details relating to hard landscaping (condition 24) pursuant to outline 

planning permission DA/16/00190/FUL for erection of 2 No. business, industrial, storage and 
distribution units (use classes B1c, B2 B8), with ancillary office space, associated highway works, 
access, infrastructure, car parking and landscaping

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01602/CDNA Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Adj Eusemere Princes View Dartford Kent DA1 1RJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological work pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/17/00798/FUL for erection of a detached 4 bedroom dwelling and detached double car port and 
parking spaces for new and existing property

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01603/CDNA Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Eusemere Princes View Dartford Kent DA1 1RJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to internal noise levels pursuant to condition 4 of planning permission 

DA/17/00798/FUL for erection of a detached 4 bedroom dwelling and detached double car port and 
parking spaces for new and existing property

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01606/CDNA Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Eusemere Princes View Dartford Kent DA1 1RJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to boundary treatment (condition 8), ground levels and finishes heights 

(condition 9), surface water drainage (condition 10) pursuant to planning permission DA/17/00798/FUL 
for erection of a detached 4 bedroom dwelling and detached double car port and parking spaces for new
and existing property

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01607/CDNA Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Eusemere Princes View Dartford Kent DA1 1RJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to building control regulations categories M4(2) or M4(3) compliance 

pursuant to condition 11 of planning permission DA/17/00798/FUL for erection of a detached 4 
bedroom dwelling and detached double car port and parking spaces for new and existing property

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 19 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01662/CDNA Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location Eusemere Princes View Dartford Kent DA1 1RJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to mitigation design features to windows on front elevation pursuant to 

condition 5 of planning permission DA/17/00798/FUL for erection of a detached 4 bedroom dwelling 
and detached double car port and parking spaces for new and existing property

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 17/01543/CDNA Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location Abbott Murex Site And Part Mill Pond Land To South Lower Hythe Street Dartford Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to construction method statement pursuant to condition 22 of planning 

permission DA/16/01601/FUL for erection of 6No blocks of between 3 and 8 storeys comprising a total 
of 403 dwellings (164 x 1-bed, 234 x 2-bed and 5 x 3-bed) together with basement and surface parking 
for 449 vehicles and 696 bicycles; plus amenity space, play areas, public open space and associated 
infrastructure works.

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 19/00098/CDNA Date Issued 13/03/2019
Location Northern Gateway North Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to contaminated land closure report for Plot 2 and Plot 3 pursuant to 

condition 29 of planning permission DA/17/01793/FUL for erection of two employment units for B1c 
(light industrial), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage or distribution) Use Classes, of up to 15,939 SQ
M (GIA) including ancillary offices and structures, servicing areas and access roads, car parking and 
landscaping

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 19/00218/CDNA Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to sustainable drainage scheme pursuant to condition 14 of planning 

permission DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with 
flexible permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 19/00280/CDNA Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Rear Of 79 To 85 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1SN 
Proposal Submission of details relating to fire safety pursuant to condition 4 of planning permission 

DA/18/00362/FUL for erection of 2 semi-detached two bedroom dwelling houses with associated 
parking and turning and garden space

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 20 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00200/CDNA Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Adjacent 25 Beech Road Dartford Kent DA1 2RG 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/16/02020/FUL (granted on appeal) for erection of a three bedroom detached house including means 
of access and one car parking space

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00086/CDNA Date Issued 14/03/2019
Location Swyres Farm  Green Street Green Road Darenth DA2 7JD
Proposal Submission of details relating to surface water drainage pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/16/01331/VCON for variation of condition 13 and 17 of planning permission DA/15/01569/FUL

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/00625/CDNA Date Issued 18/03/2019
Location Highgrove House  New Barn Road Southfleet DA3 7LT
Proposal Submission of details relating to landscaping pursuant to condition 7 of planning permission 

DA/16/00062/FUL for demolition of existing house and outbuildings (except stables) and erection of a 
detached 4 bedroom house (incorporating ancillary basement pool, cinema room and gym) with a 
detached garage, entrance gates, replacement parking and turning area

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 19/00091/CDNA Date Issued 06/02/2019
Location Northern Gateway North Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to traffic management pursuant to condition 18 of planning permission 

DA/17/01793/FUL for erection of two employment units for B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial)
and B8 (storage or distribution) Use Classes, of up to 15,939 SQ M (GIA) including ancillary offices 
and structures, servicing areas and access roads, car parking and landscaping

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00024/CDNA Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location Land Adj The Lodges (now Gantry Place) Cotton Lane Stone Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to tree protection measures pursuant to condition 11 of planning 

permission DA/16/01553/VCON for erection of 16 No. 4 bedroom houses in four terraces and erection 
of a multi-use community building with access roads and ancillary works and use of land to the west as 
outdoor camping ground and recreational space for Scout Groups, Duke of Edinburgh activities and 
youth related activities (incorporating variation of condition 2 of application reference 15/01688/VCON 
to allow the addition of an electricity substation and revised parking layout for the multi-use hall).

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 21 of 47



Plan Ref 18/00772/CDNA Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location Land Adjacent The Lodges (now Gantry Place) Cotton Lane Stone Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to acoustic barrier (condition 6), internal noise levels (condition 15), 

groundborne noise (condition 16) and mechanical ventilation system (condition 19) pursuant to planning 
permission DA/16/01553/VCON for erection of 16 No. 4 bedroom houses in four terraces and erection 
of a multi-use community building with access roads and ancillary works and use of land to the west as 
outdoor camping ground and recreational space for Scout Groups, Duke of Edinburgh activities and 
youth related activities (incorporating variation of condition 2 of application reference 15/01688/VCON 
to allow the addition of an electricity substation and revised parking layout for the multi-use hall).

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 19/00097/CDNA Date Issued 28/03/2019
Location Land Adj The Lodges (now Gantry Place) Cotton Lane Stone Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to sub structure of proposed building pursuant to condition 13 of planning 

permission DA/16/01553/VCON for erection of 16 No. 4 bedroom houses in four terraces and erection 
of a multi-use community building with access roads and ancillary works and use of land to the west as 
outdoor camping ground and recreational space for Scout Groups, Duke of Edinburgh activities and 
youth related activities (incorporating variation of condition 2 of application reference 15/01688/VCON 
to allow the addition of an electricity substation and revised parking layout for the multi-use hall).

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01248/CDNA Date Issued 13/03/2019
Location 28 Spital Street Dartford Kent DA1 2DL 
Proposal Submission of details relating to refuse and recycling pursuant to condition 5 of planning permission 

DA/17/01611/COU for change of Use from retail ((use class A1) to nail and beauty salon (use class Sui 
generis)

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01380/CDNA Date Issued 05/03/2019
Location 6 Greenwood Park Darenth Road Dartford Kent DA1 1LY 
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological works pursuant to condition 6 of planning permission 

DA/14/00438/VCON for variation of Condition 7 of planning permission DA/03/00651/FUL as amended 
by planning permission DA/14/00444/NONMAT to allow removal of garage and provision of 
replacement parking spaces for Plot 6.

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 19/00061/CDNA Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location Former Empire Sports Ground South Of Knockhall Road Greenhithe
Proposal Submission of details relating to footpath linking to PROW DS7 pursuant to condition 18 of planning 

permission DA/15/01498/VCON for substituting the approved spine road sections with amended plans 
(To replace reference to drawings IP13_782_0/001, 002/A, 003 and 004 with 6576-1101A, 1102_A, 
1103_B and 1035)

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Page 22 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00119/CDNA Date Issued 27/02/2019
Location Littlebrook Power Station Rennie Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5PT 
Proposal Submission of details relating to ecological management plan pursuant to condition 4 of planning 

permission DA/18/00457/FUL for redevelopment of the Site to provide class B8 (storage and 
distribution) uses and ancillary class B1 uses with associated access, servicing, parking and landscaping 
and riverside enhancements.

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01464/CDNA Date Issued 07/02/2019
Location Site At Junction Of King Edward Avenue West Hill Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to site management plan pursuant to condition 6 of planning permission 

DA/16/00499/FUL for erection of a part three/part four storey building to provide a 75 bedroom care 
home and ancillary external works

Ward West Hill
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01560/CDNA Date Issued 15/02/2019
Location 81 Shepherds Lane Dartford Kent DA1 2PA 
Proposal Submission of detail relating to external materials pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/18/00944/FUL for erection of a single storey side/rear/front extension incorporating demolition of 
existing attached garage

Ward Heath
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01100/CDNA Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location Land West Of Darenth Road  (including Land At Clubbs Pit) Darenth Road Darenth
Proposal Submission of details relating drainage for parts of site for manoeuvring and parking of vehicles 

pursuant to condition 26 of outline planning permission DA/10/00770/OUT for redevelopment of land to 
provide residential development together with new access, public open space and landscaping

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01661/CDNA Date Issued 01/02/2019
Location Northern Gateway North Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to sustainable drainage system (condition 27) and verification report 

pertaining to surface water drainage (condition 28) pursuant to planning permission DA/17/01793/FUL 
for erection of two employment units for B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage or
distribution) Use Classes, of up to 15,939 SQ M (GIA) including ancillary offices and structures, 
servicing areas and access roads, car parking and landscaping

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Page 23 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00048/CDNA Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location Phases 1-3 Land East Of Lowfield Street Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to Phases 1-3 for fixed telecommunications infrastructure and high speed 

fibre optic pursuant to condition 18 of planning permission DA/16/01919/FUL for development 
comprising (a) detailed permission for the demolition of existing buildings, refurbishment of No. 26 
Lowfield Street and the construction of  188 dwellings, retail units, office, cafe?/micro-brewery, detailed
landscape strategy, car parking, new internal access roads, sustainable urban drainage  systems; and 
associated infrastructure and earthworks (b) outline permission, with all matters reserved except access,
for the demolition of existing  buildings and the erection of up to 360 dwellings, flexibility for the 
following Use Classes:- A1 (retail), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes) 
and D1 (non-residential institutions) fronting Lowfield Street, new internal access roads, car parking, 
sustainable urban drainage systems; and associated landscaping, infrastructure and earthworks.

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 19/00068/CDNA Date Issued 06/03/2019
Location Littlebrook Power Station Rennie Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5PT 
Proposal Submission of details relating to remediation strategy/contamination pursuant to condition 13 of planning

permission DA/18/00457/FUL for redevelopment of the Site to provide class B8 (storage and 
distribution) uses and ancillary class B1 uses with associated access, servicing, parking and landscaping 
and riverside enhancements.

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01596/CDNA Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location Winners Chapel  Green Street Green Road Dartford DA1 1QE
Proposal Submission of details relating to landscaping scheme pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/16/01903/FUL for construction of new access road and additional vehicular access on to Churchill 
Close

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00070/CDNA Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location Empire Paper Mills Sports Ground Rear Of 25 Knockhall Road Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to pumping station kiosks pursuant to condition 5 of planning permission 

DA/17/01055/VCON for realignment of proposed spine road and subsequent changes to the layout of 
phase 2 of the development including an update reptile mitigation strategy

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 19/00071/CDNA Date Issued 07/02/2019
Location Empire Paper Mills Sports Ground Rear Of 25 Knockhall Road Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to speed restraint features on the spine road and/or visibility splays 

pursuant to condition 8 of planning permission DA/17/01055/VCON for realignment of proposed spine 
road and subsequent changes to the layout of phase 2 of the development including an update reptile 
mitigation strategy

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Page 24 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00137/CDNA Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location Phoenix Quarter Public Open Space Northern Gateway East And Mill Pond Sites (GlaxoSmithKline - 

Eastern Parcel) Bounded By Hythe Street, Mill Pond Road, Temple Hill And Central Road Dartford

Proposal Submission of details relating to play area within public open space pursuant to condition 13(2) of 
outline planning permission DA/11/00295/OUT (addendum to DA/18/00916/CDNA) for redevelopment 
to provide a residential led mixed-use development comprising between 950-1050 residential units (Class
C3), with between 2,500sq.m to 5,000 sq m of flexible non-residential uses comprising office uses 
(Class B1), retail, financial and professional services, restaurant, cafe and drinking establishment uses 
(Class A1/A2/A3/A4); and non-residential institutions/community and assembly and leisure uses (Class 
D1/D2); new landscaping, public and private open space; up to1,250 car parking spaces, cycle parking, 
access and other associated infrastructure works

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 17/01341/CDNA Date Issued 07/03/2019
Location Former Murex Site Lower Hythe Street Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to phasing plan pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/16/01601/FUL for erection of 6 No. blocks of between 3 and 8 storeys comprising a total of 403 
dwellings (164 x 1-bed, 234 x 2-bed and 5 x 3-bed) together with basement and surface parking for 449
vehicles and 696 bicycles; plus amenity space, play areas public open space and associated 
infrastructure works.

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 19/00187/EDCCON Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location Former Northfleet West Sub Station Southfleet Road Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for proposed installation of louvers at ground floor level of property 

within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Observations
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00089/EDCCON Date Issued 18/02/2019
Location Western And Central Village Eastern Quarry Watling Street Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for the Discharge of Condition 11 attached to the planning permission 

reference no. EDC/17/0048 relating to the submission of a Waste Management Plan within Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Observations
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 19/00236/CPO Date Issued 19/02/2019
Location Wilmington Grammar School For Girls Parsons Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7BB 
Proposal Consultation on an application for details of a Bat Mitigation Strategy pursuant to Condition 8 of 

planning permission DA/18/0094

Ward Wilmington
Decision No Response Required
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Page 25 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00359/EDCCON Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location Former Northfleet West Sub Station Southfleet Road Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Re-Consultation on an application for proposed installation of louvers at ground floor level of property 

within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Response Required
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00126/P14J Date Issued 21/03/2019
Location Dartford Bridge Learning And Community Campus Birdwood Avenue Dartford Kent DA1 5GB 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 14 (Class J) of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the 
installation of solar photovoltaic (PV) on roof

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00319/PDE Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 6 Greenways Longfield Kent DA3 7HL 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00124/PDE Date Issued 01/03/2019
Location 23 Oakfield Lane Dartford Kent DA1 2SN 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Princes
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00131/PDE Date Issued 01/03/2019
Location 22 Bedford Road Dartford Kent DA1 1SR 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Brent
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00035/EDCCON Date Issued 18/02/2019
Location Eastern Quarry Watling Street Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on Housing Implementation Strategy pursuant to S106 attached to outline planning 

permission EDC/17/0048 within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Observations made; Disappointing the list of diversity in housing set out in the Housing Implementation 

Strategy is limited to 5 products
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Page 26 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00142/EDCCON Date Issued 18/02/2019
Location Yard C5 Manor Way Business Park Manor Way Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application to construct 3 No. Industrial Units (Use Class B2) with associated parking

and access within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Observations made
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 19/00275/EDCCON Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location Garden Bridge Lovers Lane Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on Listed building consent for Landscaping works to the setting of the Listed Bridge within 

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Observations made
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01625/FUL Date Issued 06/03/2019
Location 64 Joydens Wood Road Bexley Kent DA5 2HT 
Proposal Extensions to existing bungalow for conversion into a four bedroom dwelling with integral garage 

including raising height of roof for provision of dormer windows to side, front and rear, part two/part 
single storey rear extension, two storey side extension, single storey front extension and demolition of 
existing detached garage

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Refused - Overbearing, loss of outlook and light, contrary to policies DP2, DP5 and DP7
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01595/FUL Date Issued 28/03/2019
Location 2 The Chenies Wilmington Kent DA2 7NP 
Proposal Raising height of roof, alterations and extensions and formation of a first floor with additional rooms in 

the roof space to provide a 6 bedroom dwelling

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Refused - Harm to neighbour amenity, out of character contrary to policy DP2, DP5, DP7
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/00851/FUL Date Issued 07/02/2019
Location 57 Colney Road Dartford Kent DA1 1TQ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension and 2nd floor rear extension and provision of rear dormer 

window in rear roof slope and roof lights in front roof slope in connection with providing additional 
rooms in roof space

Ward Newtown
Decision Application refused, Harm to neighbour amenity, contrary to policies DP5 and DP7
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00006/FUL Date Issued 27/02/2019
Location 22 Sherbourne Close Dartford Kent DA1 5WQ 
Proposal Erection of a rear conservatory
Ward Joyce Green
Decision Application Refused - Over-development; unsatisfactory design
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 27 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00057/COU Date Issued 02/04/2019
Location Net Church 30 Spital Street Dartford Kent DA1 2DL 
Proposal Change of use from ancillary car park to a 24 hour, 7 days per week car park for use by the public
Ward Town
Decision Application refused, Unacceptable due to narrow single lane access, inadequate layout of parking area, 

proposed use of car park for a 24 hour period, 7 days a week is unacceptable
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 19/00216/FUL Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 11 Ross Road Dartford Kent DA1 3NH 
Proposal Demolition of existing conservatory for erection of a single storey rear extension (part retrospective)
Ward Heath
Decision Application Refused - Excessive depth on common boundary; overshadowing
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00114/FUL Date Issued 22/03/2019
Location 15 Abbey Drive Dartford Kent DA2 7WP 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear/side extension to connect to existing detached garage together with 

conversion of part of existing garage to habitable room and provision of roof lights in north facing roof 
slope of garage

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Refused - Loss of a mature TPO tree
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01541/FUL Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location 1 Fernheath Way Wilmington Kent DA2 7PE 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application refused, detrimental visual impact
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00223/OBB Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location A2 Bean And Ebbsfleet Junction Improvements Bean Lane Bean Kent  
Proposal A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction improvements
Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision EDC - Raises Concerns
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 17/01533/LDC Date Issued 27/02/2019
Location Homefield Farm  Homefield Road Sutton At Hone DA4 9JA
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for the proposed siting of an additional 33 caravans for

seasonal occupation by agricultural workers

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision LDC Refusal; The proposal does not comply with the GPDO
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 28 of 47



Plan Ref 18/00427/LDC Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location Old West Barn Westwood Farm Highcross Road Southfleet Kent DA13 9PH 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for existing use of land as a caravan site
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision LDC Refusal; Insufficient precise evidence to demonstrate there has been a continuous use of the land for 

10 years
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 19/00286/PDE Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location 238 Shepherds Lane Dartford Kent DA1 2PW 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Heath
Decision Prior Approval Required and Refused; Not permitted development as it would be attached to an existing 

two storey extension
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00039/LDC Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location 26 Nelson Road Dartford Kent DA1 3EJ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed provision of a dormer window in rear 

elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward West Hill
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00377/LDC Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 7 Gerdview Drive Wilmington Kent DA2 7BS 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed pitched roof over existing flat roof of 

side bay window

Ward Wilmington
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01616/LDC Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location 32 Swaisland Road Dartford Kent DA1 3DE 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward West Hill
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00087/LDC Date Issued 05/02/2019
Location 15 Walnut Tree Avenue Wilmington Kent DA1 1LJ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed dormer window with Juliette balcony in 

rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 
space

Ward Princes
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 29 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00398/LDC Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 6 Eleanor Close Dartford Kent DA1 5GQ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for the proposed provision of a dormer window to 

rear elevation & 6 No roof light windows to the front elevation in connection with providing additional 
rooms in the roof space

Ward Town
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 19/00205/LDC Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location 77 Summerhouse Drive Bexley Kent DA5 2EF
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed alterations to roof from hip end to gable 

end for provision of dormer window with Juliette balcony in rear elevation and roof light in front 
elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00159/LDC Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location Nevada Hook Green Lane Wilmington DA2 7AJ
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed demolition of existing conservatory and 

erection of single storey rear extension

Ward Wilmington
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01647/LDC Date Issued 07/02/2019
Location 18 South View Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7BL 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed dormer window with Juliette balcony in 

rear elevation in connection with providing additional room in the roof space

Ward Wilmington
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00029/LDC Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location The Manse  Green Street Green Road Darenth DA2 7HT
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed dormer window in rear elevation and 

roof lights in front elevation, high-level window in flank elevation,  in connection with providing 
additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00211/LDC Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location 20 Broomhill Road Dartford Kent DA1 3HT 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed alterations to roof from hip end to gable 

end for provision of a dormer window in rear elevation and window in gable end in connection with 
providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Heath
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 30 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00191/LDC Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 53 Joyce Green Lane Dartford Kent DA1 5HA 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed dormer window in rear elevation and 

roof lights in front roof slope in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00233/LDC Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location 169 Princes Road Dartford Kent DA1 3HP 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed alterations to roof from hip end to gable 

end for provision of a dormer window with Juliette balcony in rear elevation and window in gable 
elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Heath
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00344/LDC Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location 14 Heather Drive Dartford Kent DA1 3LE 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed alterations to roof from hip end to gable 

end for provision of a dormer window in rear elevation, obscure glazed window in flank elevation and 
roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Heath
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01599/LDC Date Issued 05/02/2019
Location 21 Longfield Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7LE 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for the proposed erection of a single storey detached 

outbuilding in rear garden

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00234/LDC Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 19 Keyes Road Dartford Kent DA1 5EW 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed dormer window with Juliette balcony in 

rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 
space

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00014/LDC Date Issued 28/02/2019
Location 6 Orchard Terrace Cotton Lane Stone Kent DA9 9AX 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed provision of dormer window in rear 

elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 
space

Ward Stone
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 31 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01632/FUL Date Issued 25/03/2019
Location The Malt Shovel 3 Darenth Road Dartford Kent DA1 1LP 
Proposal Partial demolition of outbuildings and erection of a single storey extension to kitchen
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01633/FUL Date Issued 05/02/2019
Location 6 Leyton Cross Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7AP 
Proposal Erection of a rear conservatory
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01330/FUL Date Issued 15/02/2019
Location 19 Carrington Road Dartford Kent DA1 1XN 
Proposal Demolition of existing single storey garage and erection of a two storey side and single storey rear 

extension

Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01396/FUL Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Railway Tavern Station Road Longfield Kent DA3 7QD 
Proposal Erection of single storey ground floor disabled WC
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01302/FUL Date Issued 04/02/2019
Location 2 Carleton Road Dartford Kent DA1 1SS 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey side/rear extension incorporating dormer window in rear 

elevation to create self-contained two bed annex and garage

Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01278/FUL Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 4 Festival Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7HR 
Proposal Erection of a detached outbuilding
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 32 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01593/FUL Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location 66 Norman Road Dartford Kent DA1 1LF 
Proposal Provision of a dormer window with Juliette balcony in rear elevation and dormer window in front 

elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01594/FUL Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location 52 Woodlands Park Bexley Kent DA5 2EL 
Proposal Alteration of existing storm porch to enclosed porch incorporating porch into main house (habitable 

space) and relocation of existing front door to porch entrance and changes to front steps

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01381/FUL Date Issued 04/02/2019
Location 12 Pilgrims Way Dartford Kent DA1 1QA 
Proposal Provision of flues to outbuildings (retrospective application)
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01623/FUL Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location 11 Keith Avenue Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9HH 
Proposal Erection of a first floor rear extension and new first floor window within side elevation
Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01642/FUL Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location 7 Priory Close Dartford Kent DA1 2JF 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension
Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01643/FUL Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location 81 North Road Dartford Kent DA1 3ND 
Proposal Demolition of existing single storey side/rear addition and erection of two storey side extension and 

single storey rear extension and reconfiguration of existing pitched roof to provide 2 No. roof lights to 
front roof slope to serve loft space

Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 33 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01564/FUL Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Dartford Grammar School For Boys  West Hill Dartford DA1 2HW
Proposal Provision of air raid shelter entrances and playground resurfacing
Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 19/00028/FUL Date Issued 06/03/2019
Location The Everglades Park Way Bexley Kent DA5 2JD 
Proposal Erection of a first floor rear extension with Juliet balcony in side elevation, enlargement of existing rear 

dormer and alterations to existing single storey rear extension

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00107/FUL Date Issued 28/03/2019
Location 2 Cullum Cottages Southfleet Road Bean Kent DA2 8AN 
Proposal Erection of a part two storey/part first floor rear extension, first floor side extension and open porch to 

side including demolition of existing detached garage

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01612/FUL Date Issued 06/02/2019
Location 14-16 Heathclose Avenue Dartford Kent DA1 2PH
Proposal Erection of single storey rear extensions
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00008/FUL Date Issued 01/03/2019
Location 94 Birchwood Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7HG 
Proposal Provision of dormer windows in rear elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 

space, double height window on front of property, alterations to existing rear extension roof from 
pitched roof to flat roof for provision of 2 No. Juliette balconies at first floor level on rear elevation and 
alterations to fenestration together with conversion of integral garage to habitable rooms.

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00118/FUL Date Issued 21/03/2019
Location Land To The East Of Central Road Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Erection of 2 No temporary buildings for Primary School use, with associated landscaping and access
Ward Joyce Green
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Page 34 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00003/FUL Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 9 Waltham Close Dartford Kent DA1 3LT 
Proposal Alterations to roof from hip ends to gable ends and extension to roof over existing single storey 

extension for provision of a dormer window with Juliette balconies in rear elevation and dormer window
in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space (including demolition 
of existing garage) for erection of a single storey side/rear extension

Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00007/FUL Date Issued 20/02/2019
Location Darmell Park Way Bexley Kent DA5 2JD 
Proposal Erection of two storey rear and single storey side extensions
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00062/FUL Date Issued 22/02/2019
Location 2 Woodside Cottages Darenth Wood Road Darenth Kent DA2 8AB 
Proposal Erection of a front porch
Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00066/FUL Date Issued 01/03/2019
Location Fernlea Main Road Longfield Kent DA3 7AS
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00123/FUL Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location 17 Spurrell Avenue Bexley Kent DA5 2HA 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear/side extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01403/FUL Date Issued 22/02/2019
Location 136 Chastilian Road Dartford Kent DA1 3LG 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension and single storey rear extension and extension to existing 

detached garage for its conversion to a gym/ store

Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 35 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01614/FUL Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location 35 Tennyson Road Dartford Kent DA1 5DJ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Littlebrook
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00018/FUL Date Issued 20/02/2019
Location 28 Chastilian Road Dartford Kent DA1 3JJ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension and elevational alteration together with a raised platform
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00020/FUL Date Issued 20/02/2019
Location 10 Mannock Road Dartford Kent DA1 5QT 
Proposal Demolition of existing attached garage and erection of a two storey side extension
Ward Joyce Green
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00037/FUL Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location 26 Latham Close Darenth Kent DA2 6NS 
Proposal Demolition of existing conservatory, erection of a single storey rear extension alterations to roof from 

barn end to gable end for provision of dormer window in rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation 
in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00229/FUL Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 12 Sterndale Road Dartford Kent DA1 1QR 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side extension and changes to patio doors to bi-fold doors
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00230/FUL Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location 12 Sterndale Road Dartford Kent DA1 1QR 
Proposal Alterations to rear roof for provision of gable window to provide additional floor space in the roof
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 36 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01306/FUL Date Issued 08/03/2019
Location 94 Ellingham View Dartford Kent DA1 5SZ 
Proposal Erection of a detached shed (retrospective application)
Ward Littlebrook
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01673/FUL Date Issued 25/03/2019
Location 1 Church Field Wilmington Kent DA2 7EJ 
Proposal Demolition of the single storey front and rear extensions and erection of two storey front extension and 

single storey rear extension, the addition of a new pitched roof incorporating raising height of roof, the 
creation of a roof terrace above existing single storey side extension, and associated fenestration 
alterations. Demolition of existing detached garage and erection of replacement chalet style detached 
garage with ancillary accommodation above

Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01637/FUL Date Issued 27/02/2019
Location 78 Pentstemon Drive Swanscombe Kent DA10 0NJ 
Proposal Conversion of garage into habitable room together with associated alterations to front elevation 

(retrospective application)

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01638/FUL Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location 447 Princes Road Dartford Kent DA1 1RB 
Proposal Installation of roller shutters to front elevation
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01500/FUL Date Issued 18/02/2019
Location Land To The East Of Central Road Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Enabling works, including remediation of the site in preparation for a new 2-form entry school on site 

(Application reference DA/18/01480/FUL)

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01589/FUL Date Issued 04/02/2019
Location 7 Norfield Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7NY 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side/rear extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 37 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01656/FUL Date Issued 15/02/2019
Location 16 Ferndene Longfield Kent DA3 7HJ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00104/FUL Date Issued 15/03/2019
Location 29 Steele Avenue Greenhithe Kent DA9 9PQ 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension
Ward Castle
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00112/FUL Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Baynes House 5A Market Street Dartford Kent DA1 1DB 
Proposal Provision of a new shop front and replacement first floor windows to match existing
Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 19/00084/FUL Date Issued 22/02/2019
Location 66 Havelock Road Dartford Kent DA1 3JB 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side extension
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00094/FUL Date Issued 25/03/2019
Location 12 & 14 Dykewood Close Bexley Kent DA5 2JN 
Proposal Erection of a two storey rear extension for 12 Dykewood Close and first floor rear extension for 14 

Dykewood Close

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00136/FUL Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location South House Pincroft Wood Longfield Kent DA3 7AJ 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 38 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01514/FUL Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location 55 Woodlands Park Bexley Kent DA5 2EN 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension and a single storey front extension and alterations

to existing windows in side elevation

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00210/FUL Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 31 Abbey Drive Dartford Kent DA2 7WP 
Proposal Demolition of existing rear conservatory and construction of a single storey rear extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01572/FUL Date Issued 25/03/2019
Location 123 Laburnum Avenue Dartford Kent DA1 2QW 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension and front porch
Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01597/FUL Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location 10 Silver Birch Close Wilmington Kent DA2 7NH 
Proposal Provision of dormer window in front elevation in connection with providing additional floor space in the 

roof

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01631/FUL Date Issued 14/03/2019
Location The Co-Operative Group 29 - 31 High Street Swanscombe Kent DA10 0AG 
Proposal Installation of replacement plant units
Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 19/00004/FUL Date Issued 20/02/2019
Location 71 Brent Lane Dartford Kent DA1 1QT 
Proposal Demolition of existing detached garage and erection of a single storey side/rear extension
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 39 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00168/FUL Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Rhode Farm New Barn Road Longfield Kent DA3 7LQ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side extension; Infill of side porch. removal of front porch and gable roof; 

Replacement of all windows

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 17/02104/FUL Date Issued 29/03/2019
Location High View  New Barn Road Southfleet DA3 7LT
Proposal Demolition of the existing house, sheds, gazebo and garage and erection of a detached 5 bedroom 

dwelling

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01328/FUL Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location 3 Mead Road Dartford Kent DA1 2RH 
Proposal Provision of extraction flue and associated external filtration equipment to the rear and flank walls
Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01476/FUL Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location 22 Fawkham Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7HF 
Proposal Erection of a detached twin carport in front garden
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00001/FUL Date Issued 15/02/2019
Location 23 Gerdview Drive Wilmington Kent DA2 7BS 
Proposal Demolition of existing detached garage, erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension, new 

driveway with vehicle access to allow an additional 2 No. off-street parking bays and raised patio to rear

Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00133/FUL Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location 37 Heathclose Road Dartford Kent DA1 2PU 
Proposal Demolition of single storey rear extension and erection of part single/part double rear extension
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 40 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01586/FUL Date Issued 15/02/2019
Location 2 Andrews Place Dartford Kent DA2 7WD 
Proposal Erection of single storey front and side extensions
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 17/01438/LDC Date Issued 05/03/2019
Location Elmstone Betsham Road Southfleet Kent DA13 9PD 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for the proposed erection of a detached outbuilding
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 19/00228/RCON Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Sutton House  Hawley Road Hawley DA1 1PX
Proposal Application for removal of condition 6 of planning permission DA/04/00274/COU (annex sole purpose to

be incidental to Sutton house and not to be used as separate unit) to allow the annex to be used as a 
separate dwelling (named Sutton House Cottage) with allocated parking and private courtyard

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 19/00281/LBC Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Sutton House Hawley Road Hawley Kent DA1 1PX 
Proposal Application for Listed Building Consent internal alterations to allow the annex to be used as a separate 

dwelling (named Sutton House Cottage) with allocated parking and private courtyard

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/00708/S106CD Date Issued 11/03/2019
Location Land East Of Lowfield Street Dartford
Proposal S106 Submission for Vauxhall place ped and cycle access pursuant to Sch1 Clause 6.1 of s106 dated 

6/9/17 planning permission 16/01919/FUL

Ward Town
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/00273/COU Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location Homefield Farm Homefield Road Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9JA 
Proposal Use of land for storage of 33 seasonal agricultural workers caravans during the winter months 

(October-March in any one calendar year)

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Page 41 of 47



Plan Ref 17/01381/FUL Date Issued 13/02/2019
Location Darenth Leisure Ltd Darenth Fishing Complex Darenth Hill Darenth Kent DA2 7QY 
Proposal Erection of a detached 3 bedroom dwelling with dormers in east and west elevations, and associated 

parking and amenity space

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 19/00015/NONMAT Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location Site At Junction Of King Edward Avenue West Hill Dartford Kent  
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/16/00499/FUL in 

respect of revisions to layout which impact on the window positions and therefore the elevational 
treatment

Ward West Hill
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00156/LDC Date Issued 02/04/2019
Location 208 Birchwood Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7HA 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of detached outbuilding 

containing swimming pool, technical room and gym

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 17/00104/ADV Date Issued 20/03/2019
Location Prospect Place Retail Park Prospect Place Dartford Kent  
Proposal Display of 55 No. non illuminated signs associated with car park management (retrospective application)

Ward Town
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 19/00189/TPO Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 3 St Pauls Close Swanscombe Kent DA10 0BA 
Proposal Application to reduce height by 1.5 metres to the main break in the crown of 1 No. Lime tree subject to 

Tree Preservation Order No.3 1991

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Refusal TPO; Unnecessary and unjustified; potential harm to the tree; loss of visual amenity
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00198/TPO Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 48 Fawkham Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7HF 
Proposal Application to fell 1 Hornbeam tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.12 1982
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Refusal TPO; Unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 42 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00042/FUL Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location 175 Shepherds Lane Dartford Kent DA1 2PR 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey side extension and side porch
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00041/FUL Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location 8 Stanham Road Dartford Kent DA1 3AW 
Proposal Erection of a two storey rear extension linking to and conversion of existing garage to habitable room
Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00078/FUL Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location The Orchards 7 The Close Wilmington Kent DA2 7ES 
Proposal Demolition of existing double garage block and rear conservatory and erection of two storey side 

extension, single storey rear extension and open porch with balcony over; Removal of existing roofs and
proposed replacement roof with provision of dormer windows in rear and front elevations in connection
with providing additional rooms in the roof space and alterations to fenestration

Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00154/FUL Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 41 Shepherds Lane Dartford Kent DA1 2NL 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension and front porch
Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00155/FUL Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location 14 & 16 Vanessa Way Bexley Kent DA5 2JS 
Proposal Erection of single storey rear extensions including demolition of existing rear conservatory No.14
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00256/FUL Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location Ballarat Garden Place Wilmington Kent DA2 7EP 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part first floor rear extension
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 43 of 47



Plan Ref 17/02089/FUL Date Issued 14/03/2019
Location Nationwide 7 - 9 Hythe Street Dartford Kent DA1 1BE 
Proposal Provision of 8 AC Condensors (replacing 10 existing condensors)
Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01648/FUL Date Issued 20/02/2019
Location 6 Warren Road Wilmington Kent DA1 1PH 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00030/FUL Date Issued 21/02/2019
Location 36 Ash Road Dartford Kent DA1 2RL 
Proposal Conversion of integral garage into habitable room with associated alterations to front elevation
Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01613/FUL Date Issued 31/01/2019
Location 10 Manor Gate Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7EW 
Proposal Erection of single storey rear extension
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00245/FUL Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location Dartford Football Club Stadium Princes Park Grassbanks Dartford Kent DA1 1RT 
Proposal Erection of an infill extension
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/00990/FUL Date Issued 20/03/2019
Location Lads Of The Village Elizabeth Street Stone Greenhithe Kent DA9 9AT 
Proposal Extension of and re-arrangement of the existing parking provision to give 12 spaces and erection of a 

low level wall and a boundary wall at the northern boundary of the site

Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Page 44 of 47



Plan Ref 18/01554/FUL Date Issued 04/02/2019
Location 73 Devon Road Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9AA 
Proposal Conversion of existing integral garage into habitable room with associated alterations to front elevation 

(retrospective application)

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00088/FUL Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location Oak House Nurstead Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7HG 
Proposal Demolition of existing rear conservatory and erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00108/FUL Date Issued 04/03/2019
Location 37 Clarendon Gardens Dartford Kent DA2 6EY 
Proposal Demolition of existing rear conservatory, erection of a rear conservatory and provision of dormer 

window in rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms 
in the roof space

Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00110/FUL Date Issued 29/03/2019
Location 115 Milton Road Swanscombe Kent DA10 0LS 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension and provision of a dormer window in rear elevation with 

Juliette balcony and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the 
roof space and 3 No. windows in side elevation

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00121/FUL Date Issued 12/03/2019
Location 77 Darenth Park Avenue Darenth Kent DA2 6LX 
Proposal Demolition of existing rear conservatory and erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 19/00122/FUL Date Issued 27/03/2019
Location 2 Farm Cottages Common Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7DQ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 45 of 47



Plan Ref 19/00135/FUL Date Issued 01/04/2019
Location 37 Leyton Cross Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7AW 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension and front porch
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00079/FUL Date Issued 19/03/2019
Location 39 Barton Road Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9EA 
Proposal Demolition of existing garage and erection of a single storey rear and side extension (revisions to 

previous approved planning permission DA/18/00622/FUL in respect of increased depth of side 
extension and insertion of roof lights)

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 15/01823/CDNA Date Issued 06/02/2019
Location Christian Meeting Room And Car Park Leydenhatch Lane Swanley Kent BR8 7PU 
Proposal Submission of details relating to construction method statement pursuant to condition 5 of planning 

permission DA/15/00408/FUL for demolition of the existing church meeting hall (Use Class D1), 
demolition of B2 workshop (Use Class B2), extinguishment of Haulage Yard use and top-soil 
compositing yard use, and construction of replacement meeting hall (D1) with associated access, 
parking and landscaping and infrastructure works as well as change of use of part of the existing access
and yard to domestic garden at the church meeting room and Wilburton Yard (mainly within Sevenoaks
District Council)

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 16/00387/CDNA Date Issued 06/02/2019
Location Christian Meeting Room And Car Park Leydenhatch Lane Swanley Kent BR8 7PU 
Proposal Submission of details relating to noise control scheme pursuant to condition 15 of planning permission 

DA/15/00408/FUL for demolition of the existing church meeting hall (Use Class D1), demolition of B2 
workshop (Use Class B2), extinguishment of Haulage Yard use and top-soil composting yard use, and 
construction of replacement meeting hall (D1) with associated access, parking and landscaping and 
infrastructure works as well as change of use of part of the existing access and yard to domestic garden
at the church meeting room and Wilburton yard (mainly within Sevenoaks District Council)

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 16/00388/CDNA Date Issued 06/02/2019
Location Christian Meeting Room And Car Park Leydenhatch Lane Swanley Kent BR8 7PU 
Proposal Submission of details relating to surface water drainage pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/15/00408/FUL for demolition of the existing church meeting hall (Use Class D1), demolition of B2 
workshop (Use Class B2), extinguishment of Haulage Yard use and top-soil composting yard use, and 
construction of replacement meeting hall (D1) with associated access, parking and landscaping and 
infrastructure works as well as change of use of part of the existing access and yard to domestic garden
at the church meeting room and Wilburton yard (mainly within Sevenoaks District Council)

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Page 46 of 47



Plan Ref 16/00488/FUL Date Issued 26/03/2019
Location 18-20 East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1RY 
Proposal Provision of a new shop front and alterations to front entrance slope (retrospective application)
Ward Newtown
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 17/00020/CDNA Date Issued 14/03/2019
Location 18 Brakefield Road Southfleet Kent DA13 9PZ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to hard and soft landscaping pursuant to condition 6 of planning 

permission DA/14/01817/FUL demolition of existing property and garage and erection of 2 No. detached
 4 bedroom houses with associated parking

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application refused, would detract from the street scene and character of the area
Officer Jas Bansil

Page 47 of 47




	Agenda
	 Update
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2019
	6 18/00927/FUL <br/> 1B Faesten Way Bexley, Kent.  DA5 2JB
	7 18/00949/COU <br/> Willow Court, 31B, Devon Road, Sutton at Hone, Kent.  DA4 9AA
	8 Tree Preservation Order No. 3 2018 - 10 Individual Trees and 5 Groups of Trees - Fred Mead,  and Hook Place Farm, Hook Green Road,  Southfleet, Kent. DA13 9PQ
	TPO no. 3 2018

	9 Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers

